# E-ISSN e-ISSN 2149-9934 Volume: 15 Issue: 2 June 2024





# **Journal of Emergency Medicine**

# Case Reports

1. A Case of Perforated Retroperitoneal Appendicitis Mimicking Pyelonephritis

Levent Cankorkmaz, İsmail Şalk, Mehmet H. Atalar, Gökhan Köylüoğlu

2. A Misleading Case: Lichtenberg Figures Caused by Illegal Use of Electricity from High-Voltage Transformer

Bahadır Arslan

3. Transient Complete Right Bundle Branch Block Due to Lung Contusion: Case Report

Nalan Kozaci, Ismail Erkan Aydin, Durmuş Ali Erşahin, Yavuz Yüksel

- 4. A Prodigious Diagnosis of Acute Epiploic Appendagitis: A Rare Case Report Ali Gür
- 5. A Case of Sigmoid Volvulus Associated with Constipation

Mehmet Ali Oktay, Selin Akyüz Oktay, Merve Çelenk, Demet Küçük

- 6. Rare Diagnosis in The Emergency Department: Traumatic Testicular Dislocation Yasin Yıldız, Mine Kayacı Yıldız
- 7. Ischemic Stroke After Bee Sting: A Case Report Enes Hamdioğlu, İsmail Ataş, Mümin Murat Yazıcı, Özlem Bilir
- 8. A Case of Pulmonary Embolism after Receiving a Dose of Sildenafil

Emin Fatih Vişneci, Tevhid Aydın, Fatih Cemal Tekin, Demet Acar

- 9. Neuroleptic Malignant Syndrome in Puerperalwomen Frozen in Summer Sadesvaran Muniandy, Asmalia Khalid, Mohd Lotfi Hamzah, Hafidahwati Hamad @ Ahmad
- 10. A Case Report of non Hodgkin Lymphoma Presenting With Upper Gastrointestinal Tract Bleeding Zekeriya Aksöz



### Owner and Responsible Manager

Başar Cander Bezmialem Vakif University, Department of Emergency Medicine İstanbul, Turkey

**Editors in Chief** Doç. Dr. Muhammed EKMEKYAPAR

### **Editorial Board**

Doç. Dr. Levent ŞAHİN Doç. Dr. Muhammed Semih GEDİK Dr. Öğr. Üyesi Ayça ÇALBAY

# Printing and Graphics Department



Seyrantepe Mah. İbrahim Karaoğlanoğlu Cd. İspar İş Merkezi, D: No: 105 D:124, 34418 Kâğıthane/İstanbul Telefon: 0553 199 95 59 info@puntodizgi.com www.puntoajans.com

# Contents

1.	A Case of Perforated Retroperitoneal Appendicitis Mimicking Pyelonephritis
2.	A Misleading Case: Lichtenberg Figures Caused by Illegal Use of Electricity from High-Voltage Transformer
3.	Transient Complete Right Bundle Branch Block Due to Lung Contusion: Case Report38 Nalan Kozaci, Ismail Erkan Aydin, Durmuş Ali Erşahin, Yavuz Yüksel
4.	A Prodigious Diagnosis of Acute Epiploic Appendagitis: A Rare Case Report
5.	A Case of Sigmoid Volvulus Associated with Constipation
6.	Rare Diagnosis in The Emergency Department: Traumatic Testicular Dislocation48 Yasin Yıldız, Mine Kayacı Yıldız
7.	Ischemic Stroke After Bee Sting: A Case Report
8.	A Case of Pulmonary Embolism after Receiving a Dose of Sildenafil
9.	Neuroleptic Malignant Syndrome in Puerperalwomen – Frozen in Summer
10	A Case Report of non Hodgkin Lymphoma Presenting With Upper Gastrointestinal Tract Bleeding

Journal of Emergency Medicine Case Reports

# A Case of Perforated Retroperitoneal Appendicitis Mimicking Pyelonephritis

Devent Cankorkmaz<sup>1</sup>, D İsmail Şalk<sup>2</sup>, Mehmet H. Atalar<sup>2</sup>, D Gökhan Köylüoğlu<sup>3</sup> Depertment of Pediatric Surgery Sivas Cumhuriyet University, Sivas, Türkiye <sup>2</sup>Depertment of Radiology, Sivas Cumhuriyet University, Sivas, Türkiye <sup>3</sup>Depertment of Pediatric Surgery, Katip Çelebi University, İzmir, Türkiye

### Abstract

Introduction: Appendicitis is one of the most commonly diagnosed surgical diseases in childhood with emergency abdominal pain. Retrocecal retroperitoneal appendicitis is uncommon and potentially difficult to diagnose. This condition might present with atypical clinical, and radiological signs. Here, we present a patient with perforated retrocecal appendicitis in whom the clinical findings mimicked acute pyelonephritis.

**Case Report:** A 3-year-old boy presented with right flank pain, fever, and vomiting for two days. The abdomen was soft but the right costovertebral angle tenderness was positive. There was pyuria. The clinical impression was pyelonephritis. Ultrasonography showed perirenal fluid collection but did not show any collections pericecal area. In the Multi-detector CT (MDCT) MDCT a long inflamed retrocecal retroperitoneal appendix was seen with surrounding inflammation that extended to anterior pararenal space, and retroperitoneal air. At surgery, there was retrocecal retroperitoneal appendicitis with perforation and retroperitoneal collection. Appendectomy and drainage were performed.

**Conclusions:** Patients with retroperitoneal appendicitis is that these patients often present with atypical and less severe abdominal complaints. In this situation, MDCT could be a rapid and efficient tool for localizing the appendix and for the differential diagnosis.

Keywords: Retrocecal retroperitoneal appendicitis, perinephric collection, child

# Introduction

Appendicitis is the most common surgical emergency. Accurate diagnosis is sometimes hindered due to various presentations that differ from typical signs and anatomic anomalies of appendicitis (1). A delay in diagnosis and treatment increases the likelihood of complications such as perforation which is associated with an increase in morbidity and mortality. The appendix is typically in the intraperitoneum, either anterior or retrocecal; however, in 30–65% of appendicitis cases, it may be retroperitoneal location (2).

A perinephric abscess is a collection of purulent material in the space between the kidney and Gerota's fascia. It is rare in adults and even less common in children.Sparsely, the spread of infection from inflammatory lesions of adjacent viscera, diverticulitis, and retrocecal appendicitis have been implicated in the pathogenesis of perinephric abscess (3).

We present a boy with perforated retrocecal and retroperitoneal appendicitis in whom the perirenal collection and atypical symptoms and signs of appendicitis were diagnosed by Multidetector CT (MDCT).

### Case

A 3-year-old boy presented with right flank pain, fever, and vomiting since two days. His fever was 40° Celsius. The abdomen was soft but the right costovertebral angle tenderness was positive with right hypochondrial tenderness. A complete blood count revealed leukocytosis (19.8  $\times$ 109/L) with a left shift. There was pyuria on urinalysis. The clinical presentation was acute pyelonephritis. The patient's abdominal Ultrasonography (USG) findings were normal renal parenchymal echogenicity, and perirenal fluid collection but did not show any collections pericecal area. MDCT was performed for differential diagnosis. In the MDCT a long inflamed retrocecal appendix was seen with surrounding inflammation that extended to anterior perirenal space, and retroperitoneal air (Figure-1). There was also pleural effusion of the right lung base.

At surgery, there was retroperitoneal appendicitis with evidence of perforation into the retroperitoneum and retroperitoneal collection. Appendectomy and drainage of the perinephric abscess were performed. The patient received postoperative ceftriaxone (IV) and metronidazole

Corresponding Author: Levent Cankorkmaz e-mail: Icankorkmaz@gmail.com Received: 14.11.2023 • Revision: 22.02.2024 • Accepted: 11.03.2024 DOI: 10.33706/jemcr.1383925 ©Copyright 2020 by Emergency Physicians Association of Turkey -Available online at www.jemcr.com **Cite this article as:** Cankorkmaz L, Şalk İ, Atalar MH, Köylüoğlu G. A case of Perforated Retroperitoneal Appendicitis Mimicking Pyelonephritis. Journal of Emergency Medicine Case Reports. 2024;15(2): 32-34



Figure 1. Axial and coronal contrast-enhanced CT images showed retroperitoneal air and inflammation (thick white arrows). In addition, the axial CT image showed appendicolith (thin white arrow).

(IV) for 12 days. The patient made a good recovery. He was discharged on the post-op 14th day in stable condition.

# Discussion

Complications and relatively high mortality rate associated with retroperitoneal perforation of appendicitis, it is important to be able to recognize the early signs. This can delay diagnosis, which may contribute to higher rates of complications and mortality. If the appendix is in a retrocecal position, it may be positioned intraperitoneal or retroperitoneal area (4). In the case presented here, the only sign apparent on the MDCT exam was retroperitoneal air and fluid. Patients may present only with minimal perinephric fluid as well. If there is no urogenital pathology on USG, as in our patient, other sources of infection should be searched for, including perforated retrocecal appendicitis.

A perinephric abscess is rare in adults and even less common in children (3,5). Rarely, the spread of infection from inflammatory lesions of adjacent viscera, diverticulitis, and retrocecal appendicitis has been implicated in the pathogenesis of perinephric abscess (3). The most common cause of perinephric abscess is the direct extension or hematogenous seeding from other sites of infection (3).

Patients with acute retrocecal and retroperitoneal appendicitis are that these patients often present with atypical and less severe abdominal complaints cecal in whom the clinical and USG outcomes mimicked acute pyelonephritis. USG is less sensitive in cases with perforated appendicitis, whereas contrast-enhanced computed tomography particularly MDCT with thick coronal multiplanar reformat (MPR) images has better sensitivity and specificity in this clinical setting (6). MDCT can be used effectively for the diagnosis of retrocecal or retroperitoneal appendicitis without additional preparation or focused examination. We postulate that, in this case, the MDCT exam was performed early in the course of perforation, and therefore only retroperitoneal fluid was seen, without intra abdominal fluid.

If there is no urogenital pathology with the USG, as in our patient, other sources of infection should be searched for, including perforated retrocecal and retroperitoneal appendix. In such cases, MDCT can be a more effective method than ultrasound (USG) in the differential diagnosis of retrocecal appendicitis.

# Conclusions

In conclusion, retrocecal and retroperitoneal perforated appendicitis may present with various atypical clinical signs such as only with minimal perinephric fluid. In such cases, MDCT can be a more effective method than the USG in the differential diagnosis of retrocecal appendicitis. In such cases, when the appendix cannot be seen clearly or seems in an unusual localization, MDCT can be used effectively as a useful method for the correct diagnosis of retrocecal appendicitis without additional preparation or focused examination. In this situation, MDCT could be a rapid and efficient tool for localizing the appendix and for the differential diagnosis. Perirenal collection and atypical symptoms and signs of perforated appendicitis were diagnosed by MDCT.

We propose that, with increasing use of MDCT exams early in the course of clinical presentation, more cases of acute appendicitis with perforation into the retroperitoneum presenting with retroperitoneal fluid or air may occur, leading to earlier interventions and more successful clinical outcomes.

- Dönder Y, Baykan M, Güney B. Malrotation Anomaly Left Lower Quadrant Appendicitis. Journal of Emergency Medicine Case Reports. 2018; 9(3): 44-46.
- Nahhas A, Abderahman A, Kharaba A. A snake in the grass: retroperitoneal abscess due to perforated appendicitismanagement, approach and recommendations. J Surg Case Rep. 2019 May 28;2019(5):rjz163. doi: 10.1093/jscr/rjz163. PMID: 31186833; PMCID: PMC6537909.
- **3.** C. T. Kao, J. D. Tsai, H.C. Lee et al. "Right perinephric abscess: a rare presentation of ruptured retrocecal appendicitis," Pediatric Nephrology, vol. 17, no. 3, pp. 177–180, 2002.

- **4.** Kim S, Lim HK, Lee JY, Lee J, Kim MJ, Lee AS Ascending retrocecal appendicitis: clinical and computed tomographic findings. J Comput Assist Tomogr 2006;30:772-6.
- Sosnowska-Sienkiewicz P, Bućko E, Mańkowski P. The Rare Case of Perirenal Abscess in a Child-Possible Mechanisms and Methods of Treatment: A Case Report and Literature Review. Medicina (Kaunas). 2021 Feb 9;57(2):154. doi: 10.3390/ medicina57020154. PMID: 33572093; PMCID: PMC7914655.
- Wani NA, Farooq M, Gojwari T, Kosar T. Perinephric abscess caused by ruptured retrocecal appendix: MDCT demonstration. Urol Ann. 2010 Jan;2(1):29-31. doi: 10.4103/0974-7796.62923. PMID: 20842255; PMCID: PMC2934582.

Journal of Emergency Medicine Case Reports

# A Misleading Case: Lichtenberg Figures Caused by Illegal Use of Electricity from High-Voltage Transformer

🕩 Bahadır Arslan<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Emergency Medicine, Nusaybin State Hospital, Mardin, Türkiye

### Abstract

Although injuries with high voltage are relatively rare in emergency departments, their morbidity and mortality are high. Findings in the body after the event can guide the diagnosis and treatment. A 21-year-old female patient was brought by her relatives with the complaint of electric shock. Lichtenberg figures, which are known to occur because of high voltage, were observed in the body examination of the patient, who stated that the incident occurred after contact with an open cable at home. When the anamnesis was detailed again, it was learned that she entered the transformer for illegal use. Voltage information is key in electrical injury management. With criminal concerns, patients may describe events differently. The clues in the examination, like Lichtenberg figures, can change the management of the patient.

Keywords: Emergency department, electrical injuries, Lichtenberg figure

# Introduction

Electrical injuries, which were initially caused by lightning strikes, have diversified with the beginning of the use of electricity in cities. While the incidence of electrical accidents decreases with age in pediatric groups, it rises among adults, particularly affecting electricians, and construction workers (1). Patients may not have any symptoms and may present from superficial burns to cardiac arrhythmias and even death. In the United States, there are 10,000 emergency room visits due to electrical injuries each year, and approximately 350 deaths are reported (2). Voltage levels affect patient management. In high-voltage injuries, internal organ damage is not directly proportional to the severity of skin burns. Therefore, the percentage of burns should not be relied upon in fluid therapy (3). Even if there are no findings, the observation period should be longer in these injuries, especially in terms of the development of cardiac findings. In this case, a rare electrical accident accompanied by a Lichtenberg figure with anamnesisexamination mismatch is presented.

# Case

A 21-year-old female patient presented to the emergency department with the complaint of electric shock. She accidentally stepped on an open cable at home. The patient was conscious and there was no loss of consciousness period, but she was unsure of the contact time. There was paresthesia and pain in both legs. She did not describe any significant medical history.She had no smoking or alcohol use. The patient's vital signs were blood pressure 125/77 mmHg, heart rate 120/min, temperature 36.6° C, respiratory rate 20/min, oxygen saturation 100% in room air respectively. Her Glasgow coma score was 15. She was agitated because of the event and described numbness and pain in the distal of both lower extremities. The patient's left leg Visual Analogue Scale (VAS) pain score was 4/10, and the right leg VAS score was 7/10. Her muscle strength was normal in all extremities, with no additional neurological examination findings. There were no obvious signs of trauma and no electrical input and output hole. The patient, who did not describe any chest pain, had palpitations and

Corresponding Author: Bahadır Arslan e-mail: bahadır1735@gmail.com Received: 23.02.2024 • Revision: 07.03.2024 • Accepted: 11.03.2024 DOI: 10.33706/jemcr.1441022 ©Copyright 2020 by Emergency Physicians Association of Turkey - Available online at www.jemcr.com **Cite this article as:** Arslan B. A Misleading Case: Lichtenberg Figures Caused by Illegal Use of Electricity from High-Voltage Transformer. Journal of Emergency Medicine Case Reports. 2024;15(2): 35-37 her ECG was sinus tachycardia. No additional ischemic features were observed. A bolus of 1000 cc %0,9 NaCl isotonic fluid was started for the patient's tachycardia and the patient was monitored. The patient had leukocytosis in blood tests (Table-1). The urine sample was clear with noclinically significant findings.

In the control examination of the patient, performed at the approximately second hour, the most prominent in the posterior of the right lower extremity (Figure-1) and the pink-colored, painless, non-branching, nonfluffy figures were observed on the abdominal skin (Figure-2). We determined that this finding, which was not noticed during the first physical examination but became evident later, was the Lichtenberg figure. After the detection of the finding that can be seen in high voltage injuries, the patient's anamnesis was suspected and repeated. The patient sustained injuries from a transformer while attempting to use illegal electricity. She had walked in barefoot and probably stepped on the exposed wire. Afterwards she was thrown upwards with a loud noise and then she was unconscious for a short time. She explained her anamnesis differently because she was worried about being arrested.

The patient's neurological, cardiological and dermatological findings showed high voltage exposure. Management of the patient was changed. She was followed up in the emergency room for 24 hours with intravenous/ oral hydration and analgesia. In blood tests performed before discharge, leukocytosis regressed, and no significant increase was found in cardiac and muscle-destruction markers (Table 1). The vital signs were normal, the patient did not have any active complaints and was discharged in a healthy manner.



Figure 1. Lichtenberg figures (posterior of the right lower extremity)



Figure 2. Lichtenberg figures (Left upper quadrant of the abdomen)

 Table 1: Comparison of patient's admission and discharge laboratory analysis

Labs (range and unit)	Admission	Before Discharge
AST (<31 U/L)	22	19
ALT (<34 U/L)	22	18
ALP (35-104 U/L)	114	89
Total protein (64-83 g/L)	82.3	66.9
Albumin (35-52 g/L)	48.9	41.6
Total bilirubin (0.1-1 mg/dL)	0.33	0.22
LDH (135-225 U/L)	209	200
CK (34-145 U/L)	76	119
Myoglobin (25-58 µg/L)	74.43 H	35
Troponin T (<14 ng/L)	<13	<13
Urea (10-50 mg/dL)	20	17
Creatinine (0.6-1.1 mg/dL)	0.66	0.7
Sodium (136-145 mEq/L)	140	142
Potassium (3.5-5 mEq/L)	3.7	4
Chloride (96-110 mEq/L)	105	108
Calcium (8.6-10.2 mEq/L)	10.2	9.2
Magnesium (1.5-2.6 mEq/L)	1.96	1.89
CRP (0-5 mg/L)	4.7	4.8
Beta-hCG (<5.3 U/L)	<0.1	-
Complete Blood Count		
WBC (4.5-11x10^3/µL)	15.41 H	11.71 H
Hemoglobin (11.7-15.5 g/dL)	14.3	12.2
RBC (3.8-5.1x10^6/µL)	5.76	4.88
Hct (35-45 %)	44.7	38.8
Platelet (150-450x10^3/µL)	379	245

AST: Aspartate aminotransferase, ALT: Alanine aminotransferase ALP: Alkaline phosphatase, LDH: Lactate dehydrogenase, CK: Creatinin kinase, CRP: C reactive protein,

Beta-hCG: Beta-human chorionic gonadotropin, WBC: white blood cells, RBC: Red blood cells, Hct: Hematocrit H: High

# Discussion

Although the pathophysiology is not clearly known, they often appear with typical branching and pink-red shapes after lightning injuries (4-6). One hypothesis suggests that these patterns result from the activation of keratocytes, and T-cells triggered by high-voltage discharge. Extravasated blood cells also may contribute to its appearance (6). Typically, these figures begin to appear approximately 1 hour after the event and vanish within 48 hours without leaving a trace (4,7). Notably, the figures were not clearly visible before the patient's discharge. As far as we know, there are two more cases reported in the literature for Lichtenberg figures resulting from an industrial electrical accident. In the first reported case, a 49-year-old male patient who was caught in a 3 of 4 25000 V alternating current was presented and was followed up in the burn intensive care unit with the diagnosis of 15% total second-degree body burns and rhabdomyolysis (5). In the other case, a 47-year-old male

patient with a second-degree burn covering 7% of his body due to 20000 V alternating current was reported (6). Interestingly, although the electrical voltage in our case was not known (the electrical current in transformers in Turkey ranged from 10000 to 36000 volts (8), no complications were observed unlike the reported cases. Transient leukocytosis seen in the patient's blood results may be associated with acute inflammation findings because of the severity of the event (5). No additional evidence of infection was detected in the patient's physical examination and anamnesis. The patient did not remember which foot she had contacted. The patient's pain was mostly in his right leg, and these patterns were more prominent in the dorsal side of the same leg. Therefore, in our case, as mentioned in George et al., the electric arc may have terminated in the leg (9). The patient had a short-term loss of consciousness, and her cardiac rhythm was sinus tachycardia. Benign arrhythmias such as sinus tachycardia are frequently seen in these injuries at presentation and are temporary. Although the accompanying sinus tachycardia and high respiratory rate can be attributed to anxiety, the patient was continued to monitor. According to the literature, patients with symptoms such as altered consciousness, arrhythmia and chest pain should be followed up for at least 24 hours for deterioration (2,3). It should be noted that rhabdomyolysis may accompany another treatable fatal condition.Fluid therapy in appropriate amounts should be started without waiting for blood test results.

# Conclusion

Lichtenberg figures emerge as a result of high-voltage electrical injuries, primarily associated with lightning incidents but also observable in industrial accidents. In such cases, patients may be unconscious. Even when conscious, obtaining relevant medical history may be challenging due to forensic concerns. Knowledge of these pathognomonic findings by emergency service healthcare providers can contribute to preventing patient mortality through the implementation of appropriate care.

### **Informed Consent:**

The written informed consent of the patient was taken.

- J. C. Cawley and G. T. Homce, "Occupational electrical injuries in the United States, 1992-1998, and recommendations for safety research.," J. Safety Res., vol. 34, no. 3, pp. 241–8, 2003.
- Ganti Arun, McAnaney Cara. Lightningand Electrical Emergencies. In: Mattu A andSwadron S,ed.CorePendium. Burbank,CA:CorePendium,LLC.https://www.emrap.org/ corependium/chapter/recvSOMEAyiX3hmtw/Lightningand-Electrical-Emergencies#h.69uy2hlbr1j. Updated April 7, 2022. AccessedFebruary 17, 2023.
- C. Bailey, "Electrical and lightning injuries," in Tintinalli's Emergency Medicine A Comprehensive Study Guide, 9th ed., T. JE, Ed. New York: McGraw-Hill, 2020, pp. 1396–1404.
- Raniero D, Uberti A, Del Balzo G, Vermiglio E, Farinelli A, Turrina S et al. Unusual Lichtenberg figures in a lightning strike's victim: Case report and literature review. Leg Med (Tokyo). 2022;56:102028.
- **5.** Arnould JF, Le Floch R. Lichtenberg figures associated with a high-voltage industrial burn. Burns. 2011;37(3):e13-e15.
- Lindford A, Juteau S, Jaks V, Mariliis K, Lagus H, Vuola J et al. Case Report: Unravelling the Mysterious Lichtenberg Figure Skin Response in a Patient With a High-Voltage Electrical Injury. Front Med (Lausanne). 2021; 8:663807.
- Mahajan AL, Rajan R, Regan PJ. Lichtenberg figures: cutaneous manifestation of phone electrocution from lightning. J PlastReconstrAesthet Surg. 2008;61(1):111-113.
- 8. Trafo ve yüksek gerilim hatlarının yaydığı elektromanyetik radyasyonun sağlığımıza etkisi nedir? (2016). Accessed: 16 February 2023: https://www.herkesebilimteknoloji.com/k/ haberler/saglik
- **9.** George N, Bandi S, Ganti L, Aaron U, Desai BBouncedoff a Truck Out of the Blue: A Case Report of a Lightning Strike During a Thunderstorm. Cureus. 2020;12(11):e11534.

Journal of Emergency Medicine Case Reports

# Transient Complete Right Bundle Branch Block Due to Lung Contusion: Case Report

In Nalan Kozaci<sup>1</sup>, <sup>1</sup> Ismail Erkan Aydin<sup>1</sup>, <sup>1</sup> Durmuş Ali Erşahin<sup>1</sup>, <sup>1</sup> Pavuz Yüksel<sup>2</sup>
<sup>1</sup>Alanya Alaaddin Keykubat University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Emergency Medicine, Alanya, Antalya, Türkiye
<sup>2</sup>Alanya Alaaddin Keykubat University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Radiology, Alanya, Antalya, Türkiye

### Abstract

Right bundle branch block (RBBB) may occur in lung diseases and cardiovascular diseases. A 25-year-old male patient was admitted to emergency department after a motorcycle accident. Contusion was detected in bilateral lungs, and pneumothorax with laceration were detected in the right lung. ECG revealed103 bpm, right axis deviation, and complete RBBB. ECGrevealed 83 bpm, complete RBBB continued at the 6th hour after tube thoracostomy, and high sensitive TnI was normal. Chest X-ray wasnormal on the 4th day of hospitalization, and ECG revealed74 bpm, normal sinus rhythm. In thoracic trauma, ECG changes may develop as a result of lung contusion. ECG findings improve as the lung contusion heals.

Keywords: Lung contusion, Right bundle branch block, RBBB, Thorax trauma

# Introduction

Right bundle branch block (RBBB) is a common finding in older people and its prevalence increases with age. Complete right bundle branch block is associated with an increased risk of all-cause mortality in the population and in patients with heart disease. RBBB may occur in lung diseases in which right ventricular pressure increases, such as pulmonary hypertension/ cor pulmonale, pulmonary thromboembolism (PE), and in cardiovascular diseases such as myocarditis, ischemic heart disease, congenital heart disease and hypertension. Transient or permanent RBBB may result from iatrogenic etiology during procedures such as right heart catheterization and septal ablation. Cases of temporary complete RBBB in spontaneous pneumothorax and traumatic pneumothorax have been reported. However, complete RBBB due to blunt trauma was mostly detected in cases of cardiac contusion (1-4).

In this case presentation, the relationship between lung injury and ECG changes in a patient who developed pneumothorax, lung contusion, and temporary complete RBBB as a result of thoracic trauma was discussed.

### Case

A 25-year-old male patient was brought to the emergency department (ED) by ambulance after a motorcycle accident

that occurred 1 hour ago. It was learned that the patient fell on his right side after being hit by a car while riding a motorcycle. He had pain in his chest and right shoulder. The patient was conscious, Glasgow Coma Scale was 15, blood pressure was 110/70 mmHg, pulse was 101 beats per minute (bpm) and rhythmic, respiratory rate was 32 breaths/min, and arterial oxygen saturation was 70%. The patient had no disease in his medical history. On physical examination, there was tenderness in the right chest and decreased breath sounds. There was a deformity in the right shoulder and proximal humerus, and there was a 3 cm incision on the right knee. Blood sugar was 180mg/dL. In arterial blood gas, pH: 7.48, pCO2: 39mmHg, pO2: 59mmHg, lactate: 2.1 mmol/L were measured. The patient's 12-lead standard electrocardiogram (ECG) and right-sided ECG were taken. ECG revealed rate: 103 bpm, PR interval: 160ms, OTc: 447ms, QRS interval: 124ms, QRS axis: 114°, right axis deviation, complete right bundle branch block (RBBB) (Figure-1). There were T-wave inversions from V3R to V6R in the right-sided ECG. (Figure-2). RBC: 5.28 106/µL, Hb: 15.8g/dL, hematocrit: 46.7%, high sensitive TnI: 21.4ng/L (reference range: 0-47ng/L) were measured. The patient was started on oxygen at 8L/min via mask. Computed tomography (CT) images of the patient were taken.

Thorax CT images were interpreted by the radiologist and the diameters of the heart chambers were measured.

Corresponding Author: Ismail Erkan Aydın e-mail: erkanaydinmd@gmail.com Received: 28.12.2023 • Accepted: 21.03.2024 DOI: 10.33706/jemcr.1410026 ©Copyright 2020 by Emergency Physicians Association of Turkey -Available online at www.jemcr.com **Cite this article as:** Kozacı N, Aydin IE, Erşahin DA, Yüksel Y. Transient complete right bundle branch block due to lung contusion: case report. Journal of Emergency Medicine Case Reports. 2024;15(2): 38-41 Thorax CT showed ground glass densities and septal thickening consistent with contusion in both lungs, more prominent on the right side. Pneumothorax in the right pleural space and laceration in the right lung were detected. Displaced fractures were observed lateral to the right 5th and 7th ribs. Left ventricle diameter: 41.1 mm, right ventricle diameter: 36 mm, inferior vena cava: 21.6 mm, ascending aorta diameter: 32.7 mm, main pulmonary artery diameter: 22.9 mm, heart and vascular structures were normal, there was no pericardial fluid (Figure-3). The patient had a tube thoracostomy placed on the right hemithorax in the emergency department, and there was a significant improvement in respiratory parameters. The patient was transferred to the intensive care unit. Oxygen therapy was continued at 8L/min via mask. Lung expansion was observed on chest X-ray (Figure-4). At the 6th hour of hospitalization, the ECG showed rate: 83 bpm, PR interval: 152ms, QTc: 441ms, QRS interval: 128ms, QRS axis: 66°, complete RBBB (Figure-5). RBC: 4.18 106/µL, Hb: 12.7 g/dL, hematocrit: 36.8%, high sensitive TnI: 195ng/L were measured. The chest tube was removed on the 3rd day of hospitalization. High sensitive TnI: 17ng/L was measured on the 4th day of hospitalization. Chest X-raywas normal on the 4th day of hospitalization (Figure-6). In the ECG, rate: 74 bpm, PR interval: 160ms, QTc: 390ms, QRS interval: 94ms, QRS axis: 62°, normal sinus rhythm was detected (Figure-7). The right-sided ECG was normal (Figure-8). The patient was discharged with full recovery.



Figure 1. The patient's first ECG revealed tachycardia, right axis deviation, and complete right bundle branch block



Figure 2. T-wave inversions from V3R to V6R in the right-sided ECG



**Figure 3.** Thorax CT showed ground glass densities and septal thickening consistent with contusion in both lungs, more prominent on the right side. Pneumothorax in the right pleural space and laceration in the right lung were detected.



Figure 4. After tube thorocostomy, the lung expanded and lung contusion continues.



**Figure 5.** The ECG after lung expansion showed complete right bundle branch block.



Figure 6. The patient's chest X-ray was normal on the 4th day of hospitalization



Figure 7. The patient's ECG was normal on the 4th day of hospitalization.

	1.00		

Figure 8. The patient's right-sided ECG was normal on the 4th day of hospitalization.

# Discussion

Thoracic trauma accounts for 10-50% of trauma-related deaths and includes a wide variety of injuries that can cause significant morbidity and mortality. In the primary evaluation, injuries that are directly life-threatening and require rapid intervention are identified. Fatal injuries due to thoracic trauma include massive hemothorax, cardiac tamponade, tension pneumothorax, open pneumothorax, flail chest and lung contusion. Lung contusion is the most common parenchymal lung injury in blunt thoracic trauma and occurs in 25-80% of cases. The mortality rate in lung contusion is 10-25% (5–7).

In our case, contusion in both lungs, pneumothorax and laceration on the right side were detected as a result of thorax trauma. The ECG showed sinus tachycardia, right axis deviation, complete RBBB and long QTc. In the right-sided ECG, there were T-wave inversions from V3R to V6R. In reports investigating electrocardiographic changes in pneumothorax cases, phasic voltage changes and P, QRS and T axis deviation, right axis deviation, RBBB, left axis deviation, ST elevation, T inversion, and long QTc were detected in the ECG. Additionally, in these reports, a statistically significant correlation was found between the prevalence of ECG findings and the size of pneumothorax.3,4 The findings in our case were compatible with the literature. However, no report was found regarding right-sided ECG in thoracic trauma. In addition, in our case, although the lung expanded after tube throcostomy, complete RBBB continued in the ECG.

Clinicians use troponin I (TnI) levels to detect cardiac contusion in patients with thoracic trauma. However, in blunt chest trauma autopsy series, inequality was found between the incidence of elevated troponin and the incidence of cardiac contusion. Hypotension, hypoxia, and head trauma have been identified as other causes of traumarelated elevated troponin (8,9). In a study investigating the relationship between lung contusion and TnI, a correlation was found between the severity of pulmonary contusion and TnI (10). In a study conducted in patients with thoracic trauma, TnI increases in pneumothorax, hemothorax and lung contusion, apart from cardiac contusion. In addition, the most important diagnostic point in this study is that while troponin elevation continues in patients with cardiac contusion, it returns to normal in a short time in patients without cardiac contusion (11). The TnI level of our patient was normal. The TnI level measured 6 hours later was increased. But the troponin measured 3 days later was normal. The limited increase in troponin level and the rapid recovery of this increase led us to reasons other than cardiac contusion. In our case, complete RBBB that continued after lung expansion was attributed to lung contusion.

In lung contusion, blood leaks into the alveolar space, resulting in decreased lung compliance, ventilationperfusion mismatch, and intrapulmonary shunt. Reflex vasoconstriction and pulmonary hypertension that develop in the affected tissue may occur as a protective response to pulmonary contusion. Thus, blood is directed from areas with parenchymal damage to areas with better oxygenation (6,7). The development of acute pulmonary hypertension may lead to ECG changes, as in pulmonary embolism. Sinus tachycardia, complete RBBB, right axis deviation, and QTc prolongation, which was also seen in our patient, have been frequently reported in cases of pulmonary hypertension (12). Additionally, T wave inversions on the right-sided ECG have been reported in cases with acute pulmonary embolism (13). In addition, along with the improvement of our patient's clinical findings, the simultaneous return of the troponin level and chest X-ray to normal, and the normalization of the right and left sided ECG supported our diagnosis.

# Conclusion

In thoracic trauma, both left and right-sided ECG changes may occur as a result of lung contusion. ECG findings improve as the lung contusion heals.

- Ruhela M, Khandelwal G, Gupta S, Bansal A. Acute right bundle branch block due to pneumothorax. J Family Med Prim Care. 2018;7(5):1126. https://doi.org/10.4103/jfmpc. jfmpc\_222\_18
- Biondi NL, Bhandari M, Bhyan P. Transient Right Bundle Branch Block Resulting From a Blunt Cardiac Injury During a Motor Vehicle Accident. Cureus. 2020 Sep 18; https://doi. org/10.7759/cureus.10534

- Klin B, Gueta I, Bibi H, Baram S, Abu-Kishk I. Electrocardiographic changes in young patients with spontaneous pneumothorax. Medicine. 2021 Jul 30;100(30):e26793. https://doi. org/10.1097/MD.00000000026793
- 4. Minotti B, Brenner R, May Desbiolles L, Osterwalder J, Schoch OD, Ammann P. Electrocardiographic alterations by pneumothorax: a case-control study with review of the literature. Swiss Med Wkly. 2021 Aug 3;151(3132):w30041. https://doi.org/10.4414/SMW.2021.w30041
- Edgecombe L, Sigmon DF, Galuska MA, Angus LD. Thoracic Trauma. 2023. PMID: 30521264
- Choudhary S, Pasrija D, Mendez MD. Pulmonary Contusion. 2023. PMID: 32644340
- Kozaci N, Avcı M, Ararat E, Pinarbasili T, Ozkaya M, Etli I, et al. Comparison of ultrasonography and computed tomography in the determination of traumatic thoracic injuries. Am J Emerg Med. 2019 May;37(5):864–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ajem.2018.08.002
- Decavèle M, Gault N, Gauss T, Pease S, Moyer JD, Paugam-Burtz C, et al. Cardiac troponin I as an early prognosis biomarker after trauma: a retrospective cohort study. Br J Anaesth. 2018 Jun;120(6):1158–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bja.2018.03.010

- 9. Van Lieshout EMM, Verhofstad MHJ, Van Silfhout DJT, Dubois EA. Diagnostic approach for myocardial contusion: a retrospective evaluation of patient data and review of the literature. European Journal of Trauma and Emergency Surgery.2021 Aug 25;47(4):1259–72. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00068-020-01305-4
- 10. Ho Ryu J, Ran Yeom S, Woo Jeong J, Ki Min M, Real Park M, In Kim Y, et al. Correlation Between Pulmonary Contusion and Myocardial Contusion in Patients with Multiple Injuries. Journal of Trauma and Injury. 2011;24(1):31–6.
- 11. Sağlam Gürmen E. Attention: Cardiac Contusion. Turkish Journal of Trauma and Emergency Surgery. 2021; https:// doi.org/10.14744/tjtes.2021.11290
- Kopeć G. Electrocardiography in pulmonary hypertension. Pol Arch Intern Med. 2019 Aug 29;129(7–8):440–1. https:// doi.org/10.20452/pamw.14952
- Kozaci N, Ay MO, Beydilli I, Kartal ZA, Celik A, Sasmaz I, et al. Right-sided electrocardiogram usage in acute pulmonary embolism. Am J Emerg Med. 2016 Aug;34(8):1437–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajem.2016.04.025

Journal of Emergency Medicine Case Reports

# A Prodigious Diagnosis of Acute Epiploic Appendagitis: A Rare Case Report

### D Ali Gür<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Emergency, School of Medicine, Ataturk University, Erzurum, Türkiye

### Abstract

Appendices Epiploicae, also referred as Epiploic appendages, are 50-100 fat filled finger like projection from the serosal surface of large intestine. Epiploic Appendigitis (EA) is a self-limiting, benign disease process which results from the inflammation of these Appendices Epiplocae or thrombosis of the draining vein of Appendices Epiplocae. We report a case of 49 years old female, generally well, presented to the Emergency Department with complaints of a painful lump in her left iliac fossa growing in size for last four weeks. She presented to us because of acute increase in size and pain, resulting in significant discomfort. Owing to her history of cervical intra epithelial neoplasia we arranged a CT abdomen and pelvis with contrast fearing some sinister underlying ongoing pathology causing her symptoms. But to our surprise CT reported an underrated cause of her abdominal pain, EA. We were surprised of her presentation as a hard abdominal lump which was quite unusual for EA to present as. We assume it was secondary to an extensive underlying local inflammatory reaction. Patient was reassured and treated with NSAID, antibiotics and follow up with surgery ambulatory care. We authors are reporting this case of primary EA because we think every emergency and primary care physicians should be aware of this very rare condition which might present to emergency as an acute abdominal presentation mimicking other common presentations like acute diverticulitis and acute appendicitis. Being aware of this condition is utmost important to diagnose it early and avoid more invasive surgical managements and unnecessary antibiotic usage.

Keywords: Epiploic Appendagitis, Acute Abdomen, Emergency Department.

# Introduction

### Case

Epiploic appendages, also referred to as Appendices epiploicae, are fat filled finger like projections originating from the serosal surface of large intestine, out pouching into the abdominal cavity. They are originating parallel to the outer layer of three longitudinal muscle bands of large intestine called taenia coli and in two rows, anterior and posterior(1). There are 50-100 epiploic appendages in an adult human (2).

Epiploic Appendagitis (EA), first described by Lynn et al. in 1956, a rare cause of acute abdominal pain/ presentation in Emergency Departments (ED). Primary appendagitisepiploica is a self-limiting disease process, resulting from inflammation of one or more epiploic appendage/s or rarely thrombosis of draining vein of a epiploic appendages. Secondary appendagitisepiploica is a resulting secondary inflammation of epiploic appendages which springs from a primary inflammation of an adjacent peritoneal structure, examples: appendicitis or diverticulitis or cancerous process (3).

We aimed to discuss this case of a minacious presentation of acute abdominal pain, which to our pleasant surprise, lead us to a very rare but amicable diagnosis of Epiploic Appendigitis. 49 years old female presented to the ED with complaints of a painful lump in her left illiac fossa growing in size for last four weeks. She presented to us in ED as she noticed it increased in size significantly in last few days and pain became much worse. She denied any fever, weight loss, nausea, vomiting, loss of appetite, dizziness. No dysuria/ diarrhoea. She further denied any vaginal discharge/ bleeding/ spotting/ dyspareunia. Only significant past medical history was, she was diagnosed as cervical intra epithelial neoplasia 1 (CIN1) and recent cervical smear 2 weeks back confirmed no progression of the disease. When the patient's vital signs and physical examination evaluated in ED: Blood Pressure: 136/76mmhg, heart rate-89/min, SpO2-98% on Room Air, respiratory rate-19/min, Body Temperature-36.5°C. Chest: Bilateral (B/L) normal vesicular breath sounds (VBS). CVS= normal S1, S2 audible and no murmur. Abdomen: a hard, tender lump palpated in left lilac fossa, non-mobile and undefined lower edges, approx. 5x5cm size. Rest of the abdomen was soft and bowel sound was normal. We were surprised of her presentation as a hard abdominal lump which was quite unusual for EA to present as. We assume it was secondary to an extensive underlying

Corresponding Author: Ali Gür e-mail: doktoraligur@gmail.com Received: 13.03.2024 • Revision: 27.03.2024 • Accepted: 28.03.2024 DOI: 10.33706/jemcr.1452216 ©Copyright 2020 by Emergency Physicians Association of Turkey -Available online at www.jemcr.com **Cite this article as:** Gür A. A Prodigious Diagnosis of Acute Epiploic Appendagitis: A Rare Case Report. Journal of Emergency Medicine Case Reports. 2024;15(2): 42-44 local inflammatory reaction. Urine dipstick and urine beta HCG both came back negative. Her blood report showed raised WBC and CRP and normal renal and liver function tests. At this point our main concern was a malignancy in background of the history of CIN-1. Other differentials we wanted to rule out were Diverticulitis/ diverticular abscess, ruptured ovarian cyst or ovarian torsion. Hence we decided to go ahead for a CT abdomen and pelvis with contrast, weighing risk of radiation exposure vs. missing a more sinister pathology undergoing. To all of our pleasant surprise, CT reported that there was an acute left iliac fossa (LIF) EA of the sigmoid colon with target sign on the coronal MPR causing significant surrounding fat standing reaching the left inguinal canal with adjacent soft tissue swelling. No convincing hernia as shown in Figure-1. We referred the patient for emergency review by general surgeons. Patient was initially hospitalized with Non-Steroidal Antiinflammatory Drug (NSAIDS) and Co-Amoxiclav with follow up in surgery care unit.



**Figure 1.** Left Iliac Fossa Epiploic Appendagitis of Sigmoid Colon with Target Sign with significant surrounding soft tissue swelling suggestive of inflammation, extending to left inguinal canal.

# Discussion

Primary appendagitisepiploica is a rare, self-limiting inflammatory or ischaemic process involving the epiploic appendages, which are fat filled finger like projections originating from the serosal surface of large intestine into the peritoneal cavity. An adult human body they are usually 50-100 in number, between 0.5 and 5 cm long, containing a vascular stalk (two arterioles and one venule) attaching it to the surface of the colon/ large intestine. Primary appendagitisepiploica is a disease presenting mostly between 2nd to 5th decades of life (2). It is more common in obese women and one who recently lost weight, as these structures

are larger in them, make them more prone to torsion (4).

Primary appendigitisepiploica presents with nonspecific, localized abdominal pain, non-radiating, sharp in nature, mostly in the lower abdomen, left lower abdomen greater than right lower abdomen, usually pain does not get aggravated by movements, without any guarding or rigidity or palpable mass (5). Nausea, vomiting, abdominal bloating etc. are non-specific symptoms associated (6). In our case, patient although presented with a hard lump in the left lower abdomen, which not a common presentation of EA. We were surprised of her presentation as a hard abdominal lump which was quite unusual for EA to present as.

EA is primarily a CT/ Radiology diagnosis as this condition is rare and lacks any specific clinical feature to diagnose this condition. In CT, inflammation is mostly around the epiploic appendages and sparing the colonic wall and colonic diverticula, excluding acute diverticulitis or colitis (7). "Hyper attenuation ring sign" in CT scan is highly pathognomic of EA. In non-enhanced CT an solitary fat density which originates from the large bowel wall signifies the inflamed or ischaemic epiploic appendages. A hyper-attenuation rim surrounding this solitary fat density is the inflamed visceral peritoneum, giving rise to "Hyper attenuation ring sign" (8). "Fat stranding sign" is a more severe CT sign when inflammation spreads to the adjacent mesentry (5). In our case, the patient was diagnosed with EA by contrast-enhanced CT. CT showed Left Iliac Fossa EA of Sigmoid Colon with Target Sign with significant surrounding soft tissue swelling suggestive of inflammation (Figure 1).

# Conclusion

We authors are reporting this case of primary EA because we think every emergency and primary care physicians should be aware of this very rare condition which might present to emergency as an acute abdominal presentation mimicking other common presentations like acute diverticulitis and acute appendicitis. Being aware of this condition is utmost important to diagnose it early and avoid more invasive surgical managements and unnecessary antibiotic usage.

- Singh AK, Gervais DA, Hahn PF, Sagar P, Mueller PR, Novelline RA. Acute epiploic Appendagitis and its mimics. Radiographics. 2005; 25:1521–1534.
- Almeida AT, Melão L, Viamonte B, Cunha R, Pereira JM. Epiploic appendagitis: an entity frequently unknown to clinicians—diagnostic imaging, pitfalls, and look-alikes. AJR Am J Roentgenol2009;193:1243–1251.
- Lynn TE, Dockerty MB, Waugh JM. A clinicopathologic study of the epiploic appendages. *SurgGynecol Obstet*. 1956;103:423– 33.

- **4.** Ghahremani GG, White EM, Hoff FL, Gore RM, Miller JW, Christ ML. Appendices epiploicae of the colon: radiologic and pathologic features. Radiographics1992;12:59–77.
- Pereira JM, Sirlin CB, Pinto PS, Jeffrey RB, Stella DL, Casola G. Disproportionate fat stranding: a helpful CT sign in patients with acute abdominal pain. Radiographics 2004; 24:703–715.
- 6. Ortega-Cruz HD, Martinez-Souss J, Acosta-Pumarejo E, Toro DH. Epiploic appendagitis, an uncommon cause of abdominal pain: a case series and review of the literature. P R Health Sci J 2015; 34:219–221
- Chen JH, Wu CC, Wu PH. Epiploic appendagitis: an uncommon and easily misdiagnosed disease. J Dig Dis 2011;12:448–452.
- 8. Ergelen R, Asadov R, Özdemir B, Tureli D, Demirbaş BT, Tuney D. Computed tomography findings of primary epiploic appendagitis as an easily misdiagnosed entity: case series and review of literature. Ulus TravmaAcilCerrahiDerg2017;23:489–494.

Journal of Emergency Medicine Case Reports

# A Case of Sigmoid Volvulus Associated with Constipation

Mehmet Ali Oktay<sup>1</sup>, Selin Akyüz Oktay<sup>2</sup>, Reve Çelenk<sup>3</sup>, Demet Küçük<sup>4</sup> <sup>1</sup>Department of Child Health and Diseases, Kara Musta Pasa State Hospital, Amasya, Türkiye. <sup>2</sup>Department of Child Health and Diseases Suluova State Hospital, Amasya, Türkiye. <sup>3</sup>Department of Pediatric Surgery, Ondokuz Mayıs University Samsun, Türkiye <sup>4</sup>Department of Radiology, Ondokuz Mayıs University Samsun, Türkiye

### Abstract

Sigmoid volvulus (SV) is a rare cause of intestinal obstruction in adolescents. Delay in diagnosis may lead to complications such as necrosis and perforation of the volvulated colon. Clinical presentations are non-specific and the diagnosis is based on high clinical suspicion. Herein, we report a 14-year-old male patient who presented to the emergency department with abdominal pain and no stool output. It was learned that the patient had these complaints for the last four years and had been receiving constipation treatment. In abdominal X ray, the classic coffee bean finding of the sigmoid volvulus has seen. A diagnostic laparotomy was performed, which revealed a 180-degree rotation of the mesentery and a significant diameter difference in the colon due to significant dilatation proximal to the volvulus. This case with SV without any complications, reminds us that SV should be considered as a differential diagnosis in patients presenting with acute or recurrent abdominal pain and intestinal obstruction.

Keywords: Sigmoid volvulus, constipation, emergency

# Introduction

Case

Sigmoid volvulus (SV) is a rare but potentially lifethreatening condition in pediatric patients. It may resolves pontaneously; therefore the diagnosis is usually missed or delayed (1). Delay in diagnosis may lead to complications including necrosis and perforation of the volvulated colon (2). Clinical presentations are non-specific and the diagnosis is based on high clinical suspicion. SV manifests acutely with abdominal pain, bloating and vomiting. However, the chronic form has an insidious course with vague symptoms at the time of diagnosis (3). In this article, we present a 14-year-old patient who had multiple emergency room visits and was evaluated as constipation in almost all of his visits, which eventually diagnosed as SV through detailed examination and evaluation. Key points;

- 1. Sigmoid volvulus should be considered in patients presenting with recurrent abdominal pain and constipation.
- 2. The clinical course of sigmoid volvulus in pediatric patients may be occult.

A 14-year-old male patient was admitted to the pediatric emergency department with complaints of abdominal pain and no stool output for the last three days. When his history was questioned, it was learned that he had spontaneously regressing abdominal pain and constipation for the last four years, he did not have nausea and vomiting during these periods, he frequently applied to the emergency department with complaints of abdominal pain and was discharged after constipation treatments were arranged. The patient was evaluated in the emergency department; his vitalsigns were as follows: pulse rate 90/min, respiratory rate 19/ min, oxygen saturation 98%, blood pressure 110/70 mmHg. There was no fever and vomiting. Physical examination revealed abdominal distension and diffuse tenderness in all quadrants. On rectal palpation, the ampulla was empty and there was no fecal contamination or gas discharge. There was no free air under the diaphragm in the standing abdominal X ray, but dilated loop of large bowel and the classic coffee bean finding of sigmoid volvulus were observed

Corresponding Author: Mehmet Ali Oktay e-mail: malii-71@hotmail.com Received: 17.09.2023 • Revision: 11.03.2024 • Accepted: 07.04.2024 DOI: 10.33706/jemcr.1361878 ©Copyright 2020 by Emergency Physicians Association of Turkey - Available online at www.jemcr.com **Cite this article as:** Oktay MA, Akyüz Oktay S, Çelenk M, Küçük D. A Case of Sigmoid Volvulus Associated with Constipation. Journal of Emergency Medicine Case Reports. 2024;15(2): 45-47 (Figure-1). Laboratory tests were as follows: Hemoglobin (Hb) 14.5 g/dl, White Blood Cell (WBC) 4.24 x10.e3/uL, Neutrophil count (NEU) 1.90 x.e3/uL, C-ReactiveProtein (CRP) 2.9 mg/L and liver and renal function tests were within normal range. Abdominal computed tomography (CT) was performed as a further investigation because the patient had no stool output. The transverse colon was 9 cm in diameter and appeared dilated, and 180-degree rotation of the mesentery was observed at the level of the descending colon where the dilated are a terminated. Sigmoid colon and rectum were thin and collapsed. Redundant sigmoid colon volvulus was observed. The patient was evaluated by pediatric surgery department. After oral intake was stopped and a nasogastric catheter was inserted, a small amount of fecal contamination was observed with bedside rectal irrigation. Diagnostic laparotomy was performed by the pediatric surgeon and a 180-degree rotation of the mesentery and a significant diameter difference in the colon due to significant dilatation proximal to the volvulus area were observed. There was no evidence of necrosis and the rest of the colon was healthy and normal (Figure-2). Considering that resection anastomos is might not be safe due to the diameter difference in the colon, it was decided to open a colostomy first. The pathologic examination of the biopsy material from the distal part of the dilated loop of large bowel was evaluated for Hirschprung's disease and no aganglionic area was observed. He was discharged on the 5th postoperative day. After 2 months, the colostomy was closed by resection anastomosis from the redundancy to the

sigmoid colon and no complications were reported.

Figure 1. Coffee bean image seen in sigmoid volvulus



Figure 2. The intestinal anus volvulated 180 degrees and appears to be greatly dilated

# Discussion

SV is a rare cause of intestinal obstruction inadolescents (2). Most patients with SV present with nausea, abdominal pain, bloating and vomiting which start insidiously, progresss lowly and settle within days (4). In our patient, other findings except vomiting were present. Only three studies were made with pediatric volvulus cases. One of them was made by Salas et al., in which a total of 63 cases were reported from 1941 to 2000 having the largest sample among all studies (4). Also, Colinet and colleagues reported 13 cases from 2001 to 2012 (5) and Atamanalp and co-authors presented 19 cases from a Turkish hospital (6).

The median age in SV is seven years and the incidence is higher in males than females (3.5:1) (4). These patients are usually relieved with stool or flatulence and are therefore frequently followed up with a diagnosis of constipation. Because of its insidious course, most patients present to the hospital 3 to 4 days after the onset of symptoms (1). Our case was also evaluated as constipation on multiple hospital admissions.

Various predisposing factors have been described among children. Hirschsprung's disease is one of the conditions associated with both transverse colonic and sigmoid volvulus. This disease was excluded in our patient by the abundant ganglion cells demonstrated in the biopsy specimen.

Physical symptoms are non-specific and the diagnosis can be made with complementary imaging studies such as radiographs and CT scanand high clinical suspicion (1). Abdominal X-rays in children are usually non specific and lessuseful in differentiating volvulus from other disorders. A plain abdominal X-ray is suggestive of sigmoid volvulus in approximately 29% of patients (7). While abdominal X-ray is not very sensitive in detecting sigmoid volvulus findings in children, our patients howed a classical finding.

The diagnosis of sigmoid volvulus requires obtaining a detailed history, conducting a thorough clinical examination, and accurately interpreting plain abdominal radiographs. Diagnostic findings include the "whirlpool" sign, formed by the expansion of the sigmoid colon around the mesocolon and vessels, and the "Birds beak" appearance of afferent and efferent colon segments on barium enema. However, as in this case, the classic "coffee bean" sign may not be prominent in most pediatric cases and is not specific for distinguishing from other intra-abdominal pathologies (8).

Sigmoid resection is the definitive treatment for both children and adults, but nonoperative decompression should be tried for elective resection in patients without peritonitis findings (7). Since there were no sign of peritonitis in our patient, decompression was tried but was not successful. Our case was treated with sigmoidectomy, and endcolostomy (Hartman) and primary anastomosis of there maining healthy small intestine. It has been reported that the prognosis of sigmoid volvulus is quite good when diagnosed and treated rapidly (4).

If left untreated, SV can progress to ischemic colon, hemorrhagic infarction and even death; since these outcomes are potentially life-threatening, physicians should consider SV as a differential diagnosis in patients presenting with acute or recurrent abdominal pain and intestinal obstruction (1).

# Conclusion

Clinicians and surgeons should be cautious and skeptical not to over look the diagnosis of sigmoid volvulus in a case presenting with symptoms of constipation, regardless of the patient's age.

- Chang P-H, Jeng C-M, Chen D-F, Lin L-H. A case report and literature review of sigmoid volvulus in children. Medicine. 2017;96(52):e9434.
- Kiyaka SM, Sikakulya FK, Masereka R, Okedi XF, Anyama P. Sigmoid volvulus in an adolescent female: A case report. International journal of surgery case reports. 2021;87:106430.
- Haider F, Al Asheeri N, Ayoub B, Abrar E, Khamis J, Isa H, et al. Sigmoid volvulus in children: a case report. Journal of Medical Case Reports. 2017;11:1-5.
- Salas S, Angel CA, Salas N, Murillo C, Swischuk L. Sigmoid volvulus in children and adolescents. Journal of the American College of Surgeons. 2000;190(6):717-23.
- Colinet S, Rebeuh J, Gottrand F, Kalach N, Paquot I, Djeddi D, et al. Presentation and endoscopic management of sigmoid volvulus in children. European journal of pediatrics. 2015;174:965-9.
- Atamanalp SS, Yildirgan Mİ, Başoğlu M, Kantarci M, Yılmaz İ. Sigmoid colon volvulus in children: review of 19 cases. Pediatric surgery international. 2004;20:492-5.
- 7. Smith S, Golladay E, Wagner C, Seibert J. Sigmoid volvulus in childhood. Southern medical journal. 1990;83(7):778-81.
- Akintomide AO, Inyang AW. Spontaneous detorsion of sigmoid volvulus in a toddler: a timely abdominal X-ray that clinched the diagnosis and a review of the role of radiology. Int J Case Rep Images. 2019;10:10.5348.

Journal of Emergency Medicine Case Reports

# Rare Diagnosis in The Emergency Department: Traumatic Testicular Dislocation

Yasin Yıldız<sup>1</sup>, Mine Kayacı Yıldız<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Konya City Hospital, Emergency Medicine Clinic, Konya, Türkiye <sup>2</sup>Adıyaman Education and Research Hospital, Emergency Medicine Clinic, Adıyaman, Türkiye

### Abstract

Traumatic Testicular Dislocation (TTD) is a rare form of scrotal trauma, involving the displacement of the scrotum directly towards the surrounding tissues due to direct compression, often occurring towards the inguinal area. In this report, we present a case of TTD in an adult patient involved in a motor vehicle accident and provide a brief review of this rare condition. An 18-year-old male patient was brought to our emergency department following a motorcycle accident. The patient reported a new swelling in his left groin. On physical examination, the left side of the scrotum was found to be empty, without the presence of hematoma. A swelling in the described area was palpated in the left inguinal region. A computed tomography (CT) scan did not reveal the left testis in its normal position; instead, the testis was identified in the left scrotum by Urologist. The patient was discharged with a prescription. TTD is a rare complication of blunt scrotal trauma. Even in the presence of multiple injuries, a thorough examination of the testicles is always recommended. Ultrasound (USG) and Doppler USG are the most useful diagnostic tools for TTD, but CT can also be helpful in cases of complex trauma. While TTD is not a life-threatening condition, a careful plan is recommended for the repositioning of the testis.

Keywords: Emergency Medicine,, Trauma, Testicular Dislocation

# Introduction

Testicular traumas can lead to the production of antisperm antibodies, resulting in hypogonadism, which can ultimately lead to infertility (1). Traumatic Testicular Dislocation (TTD) is a rare form of scrotal trauma, involving the displacement of the scrotum directly towards the surrounding tissues due to direct compression, often occurring towards the inguinal area (2,3). TTD can occur either in isolation or in conjunction with blunt abdominopelvic trauma (4). While TTD is more commonly diagnosed immediately after trauma, delayed diagnoses have been reported in a minority of cases.

Ultrasonography (USG), color Doppler USG, and computed tomography (CT) are the primary diagnostic tools (5). Early diagnosis and treatment are recommended to preserve testicular function and minimize the risk of malignant transformation (2).

In this report, we present a case of TTD in an adult patient involved in a motor vehicle accident and provide a brief review of this rare condition.

# Case

An 18-year-old male patient was brought to our emergency department following a motorcycle accident.

Upon arrival, his vital signs were stable, and the Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS) was determined to be 15. Deformity and crepitation on palpation were noted in the patient's right wrist region. The patient also reported a new swelling in his left groin. There was no history of undescended testis or testicular surgery in the patient's medical history. On physical examination, the left side of the scrotum was found to be empty, without the presence of hematoma. A swelling in the described area was palpated in the left inguinal region. Rectal tone was normal, and no blood was detected in the urine test. A CT scan, conducted due to trauma, did not reveal the left testis in its normal position; instead, the testis was identified in the left inguinal region (Figure-1 and 2). Scrotal Doppler Ultrasound was performed, revealing normal blood flow. The patient was consulted to the urology department. It was determined that the left testis had displaced to the proximal part of the left inguinal canal. The left testis was manually manipulated and descended into the left scrotum. A repeat scrotal Doppler ultrasound conducted one hour later showed no scrotal pathology. Since no urological intervention was deemed necessary, the patient was discharged with a prescription for NSAIDs and advised to follow up at the urology outpatient clinic.

Corresponding Author: Yasin Yıldız e-mail: atuyasin02@gmail.com Received: 16.01.2024 • Revision: 07.04.2024 • Accepted: 14.04.2024 DOI: 10.33706/jemcr.1420626 ©Copyright 2020 by Emergency Physicians Association of Turkey -Available online at www.jemcr.com **Cite this article as:** Yıldız Y, Kayacı Yıldız M. Rare Diagnosis in The Emergency Department: Traumatic Testicular Dislocation. Journal of Emergency Medicine Case Reports. 2024;15(2): 48-49



Figure 1. The left testis, which is not in its normal position on the CT scan (arrow head)



Figure 2. Identified left testis in the left inguinal region on the CT scan (arrow head)

# Discussion

Testicles are organs that are less affected by traumas due to their location and mobility, accounting for less than 1% of all injuries. Approximately 85% of testicular injuries are due to blunt mechanisms, with motorcycle accidents also present in the etiology (6).

TTD, also known as traumatic dislocation of the testis, was first reported in 1818 by Clauby in a case where an individual fell from a wagon (7). The true incidence of TTD remains unknown, likely due to its rarity, leading to underreporting or oversight (4). In a case presentation reported by Zavras et al., 47 cases were identified in the literature, with the majority occurring after a motorcycle accident. The average age of these cases was 25.09 (6-62), and almost half of them were unilateral (49.5%).

The primary mechanism of TTD involves the rupture of spermatic cord fascias (external, cremasteric, and internal fascias) due to a direct force pushing the testis outside the scrotum (2). The most common area where the scrotum migrates is the superficial inguinal pouch, observed in half of the cases. Other areas include pubic, penile, canalicular, and entirely abdominal, perineal, acetabular, and crural regions.

During physical examination, a palpable mass in the migrated area is detected along with an empty hemiscrotum. However, it can often be overlooked during the initial assessment due to concurrent severe injuries (4). In our case, there was also associated extremity trauma. Undescended testis or undiagnosed cryptorchidism should always be questioned in these cases.

USG is a very important imaging modality in the diagnosis of testicular traumas and determining the need for surgery (6). The essential diagnostic tools for diagnosis of TTD include USG and Doppler USG. Additionally, abdominal and pelvic CT is recommended to assess the presence of pelvic and scrotal traumas associated with intraabdominal dislocation (4).

Manual reduction or surgical exploration are the treatment options for these cases. Manual reduction can be attempted within the first 3-4 days after trauma, before the resolution of edema and without the development of adhesions. However, manual reduction is successful in only about 15% of cases (2). In our case, manual manipulation was recommended by the urology consultant. Surgical intervention has advantages, such as requiring a relatively minor approach, carrying low morbidity, and the potential to detect accompanying testicular torsion or testicular trauma (4). In our case, surgical intervention was not recommended, the performed manual manipulation was successful, and no complications were observed during the one-hour follow-up.

Regardless of the chosen treatment, early diagnosis and prompt intervention are crucial. Delayed diagnosis, particularly after the fourth month, has been reported to show histological changes.

# Conclusion

TTD is a rare complication of blunt scrotal trauma. Even in the presence of multiple injuries, a thorough examination of the testicles is always recommended. Ultrasound (USG) and Doppler USG are the most useful diagnostic tools for TTD, but CT can also be helpful in cases of complex trauma. While TTD is not a life-threatening condition, a careful plan is recommended for the repositioning of the testis.

- Addas F, Yan S, Hadjipavlou M, et al. Testicular rupture or testicular fracture? A case report and literature review. Case Rep Urol 2018;2018:1323780.
- **2.** Bromberg W, Wong C, Kurek S. Traumatic bilateral testicular dislocation. J Trauma. 2003;54:1009e1011.
- **3.** Perera E, Bhatt S, Dogra VS. Traumatic ectopic dislocation of testis. J Clin Imaging Sci. 2011;1:17.
- Matzek BA, Linklater DR. Traumatic testicular dislocation after minor trauma in a pediatric patient. J Emerg Med. 2013;45:537e540.
- **5.** Schwartz SL, Faerber GJ. Dislocation of the testis as a delayed presentation of scrotal trauma. Urology. 1994;43:743e745.
- **6.** Ekmekyapar M, Turtay MG, Gurbuz S, Derya S, Gokce H, Solgun OF. Rupture of testicle accompanying multiple traumas: A case report. Ann Med Res 2020; 27(12):3278-80.
- Claubry E. Observation sur une retrocession subite des deux testicules dans l'abdomen, a suite d'une violente compression de la partie inferieure de la paroi abdominale par une roue de charette. J Gen Med Chir Pharmacol. 1818;64:325.

Journal of Emergency Medicine Case Reports

# **Ischemic Stroke After Bee Sting: A Case Report**

Enes Hamdioğlu<sup>1</sup>, logi İsmail Ataş<sup>2</sup>, logi Mümin Murat Yazıcı<sup>1</sup>, logi Özlem Bilir<sup>1</sup>
<sup>1</sup>Recep Tayyip Erdoğan UniversityTraining and Research Hospital, Department of Emergency Medicine, Rize, Türkiye
<sup>2</sup>Rize State Hospital, Department of Emergency Medicine, Rize, Türkiye

### Abstract

The global impact of a bee sting extends beyond common perceptions, showing various indications that may range from local reactions to more severe complication. This report details a compelling case involving a 63-year-old male who developed neurological deficits merely six hours after a bee sting. A 63 -year-old male patient was brought to the emergency department because of widespread redness, pain and itching at the sting area after a bee sting while pruning roses in the garden. During the follow-up in the emergency room, the patient developed weakness in his right lower/upper extremities. However, the diffusion magnetic resonance imaging of the patient showed an infarction detected in the area adjacent to the left lateral ventricle. Various clinical presentations after a bee sting have been described in the literature. Bee sting cases are generally associated with mild and transient local symptoms. Sometimes life-threatening allergic reactions may occur. The scarcity of the reported after-sting strokes emphasizes the need for further exploration into this uncharted territory to better comprehend and manage these exceptional indications. This case is presented for its rarity, underscoring the imperative for increased attention and research on these complications.

Keywords: Bee sting, ischemic, stroke

# Introduction

The global impact of a bee sting extends beyond common perceptions, showing various indications that may range from local reactions to more severe complications such as vomiting, diarrhea, dyspnea, generalized edema, acute renal failure, hypotension, and collapse (1). The uncommon but documented after-sting complications such as vasculitis, serum sickness, neuritis, and encephalitis often develop within days to weeks following the initial incident (2).

Amid these considerations, the foremost concern is the potential occurrence of anaphylaxis life-threatening reaction with mortality implications. The documented incidence of anaphylaxis (3) resulting from bee stings varies within the range of 0.4% and 5%. Notably, severe allergic reactions leading to mortality typically surface before the age of 20, with a twofold prevalence observed in the male population (4).

While classical local allergic reactions following a bee sting are commonplace, their diagnosis relies heavily on a thorough patient history. In the current case, the medical history and physical examination findings are consistent, pointing to a presentation consistent with a local allergic reaction. Recognizing and understanding such reactions are crucial for prompt and effective medical intervention.

In addition to the complexity, the neurologic symptoms following bee stings are infrequently documented in the literature, with cases primarily emphasizing encephalitis and acute disseminated encephalomyelitis. The occurrence of a stroke directly related to a bee sting is even rarer, with the precise etiology remaining elusive. This report details a compelling case involving a 63-year-old male who developed neurological deficits merely six hours after a bee sting. The scarcity of the reported after-sting strokes emphasizes the need for further exploration into this uncharted territory to better comprehend and manage these exceptional indications. This case is presented for its rarity, underscoring the imperative for increased attention and research on these complications.

### Case

A 63 -year-old male patient was brought to the emergency department because of widespread redness, pain and itching at the sting area after a bee sting while pruning roses in the garden, with a medical history of hypertension, type 2 diabetes, and coronary artery disease. He denied alcohol or tobacco use.

Corresponding Author: Enes Hamdioğlu e-mail: eneshamdioglu@gmail.com Received: 25.02.2024 • Revision: 18.03.2024 • Accepted: 14.04.2024 DOI: 10.33706/jemcr.1442868 ©Copyright 2020 by Emergency Physicians Association of Turkey - Available online at www.jemcr.com **Cite this article as:** Hamdioğlu E, Ataş İ, Yazıcı MM, Bilir Ö. Ischemic Stroke After Bee Sting: A Case Report. Journal of Emergency Medicine Case Reports. 2024;15(2): 50-52

Upon arrival for the ER, the vital signs of the patientwere as follows: blood pressure (BP):130/80 mmHg, heart rate (HR) 75 beats/min, respiratory rate (RR) 14/min, fever: 36.4 C° oxygen saturation: 98% in room air. His general condition was alert and oriented, the neurologic examination and, the mental-status examination was normal, GlasgowComa Scale (GCS) was 15 (E4, V5, M6)., In the other physical examinations, there was observed no tachycardia, no tachypnea and no murmur-rubbinggalloping. His respiratory system examination was clear according to the bilateral auscultation. The remainder of his physical examination was normal. After the physical examination, the laboratory tests were requested, and the symptomatic treatment was initiated. During the follow-up in the emergency room, the patient developed weakness in his right lower/upper extremities. In the control neurological examination, his mental status examination was normal, and the GCS score was 15. The patient developed right central facial paralysis, a 3/5 loss of strength in his right upper/lower extremities, and a positive Babinski sign on the right side. As the current clinical presentation changed, a non-contrast brain CT scan was performed, and no acute pathology was detected. However, the diffusion magnetic resonance imaging of the patient showed an infarction detected in the area adjacent to the left lateral ventricle (Figure-1). In response to the detection of an acute ischemic lesion in the imaging tests, rt-PA (recombinant human tissue-type plasminogen activator) was administered in accordance with the recommendations of the neurology consultant physician. The patient's relatives were informed about the treatment. However, since it was not accepted, the patient was administered oral (PO) medication, which included 300 mg of acetylsalicylic acid and 0.6 mg of LMWH (Low Molecular Weight Heparin) Enoxaparin., The patient was admitted to the neurology clinic and hospitalized. However, the patient was discharged on the 5<sup>th</sup> day of the hospital stay.



**Figure 1.** Diffusion magnetic resonance imaging of the patient showed an infarction detected in the area adjacent to the left lateral ventricle (red arrow)

### Discussion

Various clinical presentations after a bee sting have been described in the literature. Bee sting cases are generally associated with mild and transient local symptoms. Sometimes life-threatening allergic reactions may occur. Classical local allergic reactions occur after bee sting, and the diagnosis depends on the medical history. In our case, the medical history and physical examination findings are consistent with the local allergic reactions. Many bites may cause urticaria and systemic toxicity including cardiovascular and neurologic problems (5). The reactions by bee sting are frequently mediated by IgE, but these reactions may also occur by IgG antibody and IgG venom complex triggered complement activation. The symptoms usually occur within the first few hours, but they can be observed even after hours. The connection between bee stings and strokes is an interesting topic, and there are potential mechanisms through which bee venom might influence the risk of stroke. However, it is important to note that research in this area may be limited, and the information available might not be conclusive.

Pathophysiologically, it is said that several mechanism scan cause this condition. Bee stings may trigger severe allergic reactions (anaphylaxis) in susceptible individuals. Anaphylaxis may lead to hypotension (low blood pressure), which, in turn, may affect cerebral blood flow and increase the risk of ischemic events such as strokes.Bee venom contains various inflammatory mediators, including histamine, thromboxane, and leukotrienes. These mediators may contribute to a hypercoagulable state and potentially promote conditions favorable to strokes. Vasoactive substances in bee venom may influence blood vessel tone and reactivity. Changes in blood vessel dynamics may impact the risk of stroke, particularly if there is a predisposition to vascular events (6-8). According to many studies, patients should be observed for a period of at least 6 hours (9,10). In our case, reactions were observed after the first hour and minimized through the treatment by the medical teams, but at the sixth hour of the follow-up, neurologic symptoms were developed.

Our patient had no previous medical history of epilepsy or cerebrovascular disease and here, we present ischemic stroke after bee sting, which is an extremely rare neurological involvement due to bee sting.

# Conclusion

The scarcity of the reported after-sting strokes emphasizes the need for further exploration into this uncharted territory to better comprehend and manage these exceptional indications. This case is presented for its rarity, underscoring the imperative for increased attention and research on these complications.

- Clarck RF. Hymenoptera. In: Olson KR, editor. Poisoning and drug overdose. 4th ed. New York: LangeMedical. Books/ McGrawHill; 2004. p. 225–6.
- Dikici S, Aydin LY, Saritas A, Kudas O, Kandis H. An unusual presentation of bee sting: subarachnoid hemorrhagia. Am J Emerg Med 2012;30(8):1663.3,
- Steen CJ, Janniger CK, Schutzer SE, Schwartz RA. Insect sting reactions to bees, wasp and ants. Int J Dermatol 2005;44:91– 4.
- **4.** Kalyoncu AF, Demir AU, Ozcan U, Ozkuyumcu C, Sahin AA, Barış YI. Bee and wasp venom allergy in Turkey. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 1997;78:408–12.

- Falco OB, Plewing G, Wolff HH, Burgdorf WHC. Dermatology. 2nd ed.. Berlin: Springer Verlag; 2000. p. 360–80
- Golden DB, Tracy JM, Freeman TM, Hoffman DR, Insect Commitlee of the American Academy of Allergy. Asthma and immunology. Negative venom skin test result in patients with histories of systemic reaction to a sting. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2003;112:495–8.
- Rajendiran C, Puvanalingam A, Thangam D, Ragunanthanan S, Ramesh D, Venkatesan S, et al. Stroke after multiple bee sting. J Assoc Physicians India 2012;60:122–4.
- Ekmekyapar T, Ekmekyapar M, Gürbüz Ş, Oğuztürk H. Unexpected acute aorta dissection with ischemic stroke. Journal of Emergency Medicine Case Reports.2020; 11(2): 53-56.
- VidhateMr, Sharma P, Verma R, Yaday R. Bilateral cavernous sinus syndrome and bilateral cerebral infacts: A rare combination after wasp sting. J Neuaol Sci. 2011; 15: 301(1-): 104–6.
- **10.** Loh HH, Tan CH. Acute renal failure and posterior reversible encephalopathy syndrome following multiple wasp sting: a case report. Med J Malaysia 2012;67(1):133–5.

Journal of Emergency Medicine Case Reports

# A Case of Pulmonary Embolism after Receiving a Dose of Sildenafil

Emin Fatih Vişneci<sup>1</sup>, <sup>1</sup> Tevhid Aydın<sup>2</sup>, <sup>1</sup> Fatih Cemal Tekin<sup>1</sup>, <sup>1</sup> Demet Acar<sup>1</sup> <sup>1</sup>Konya City Hospital, Emergency Department, Türkiye <sup>2</sup>Konya Beyhekim Training and Research Hospital, Family Medicine Department, Türkiye

### Abstract

Several studies have posited the potential of PDE5Is to precipitate arterial and venous thrombotic or embolic incidents, albeit rare occurrences. The present investigation documents a case of pulmonary thromboembolism (PTE) in an elderly male patient, aged 81, following the consumption of sildenafil. An 81-year-old male patient who was previously diagnosed with syncope was admitted to our Emergency Department. He reported symptoms of dyspnea and vertigo. Approximately two hours before admission, there was a history of accidentally ingesting a total dose of 100 milligrams of sildenafil. The occurrence of PTE after sildenafil administration in this case, albeit rare, underscores the significance of meticulous evaluation of medications during patient history-taking. This case report, the importance of thorough efforts to rule out the diagnosis of PTE and to address even the slightest suspicion.

Keywords: Pulmonary embolism, phosphodiesterase 5 inhibitors, adverse effect

# Introduction

On a globalscale, phosphodiesterase-5 inhibitors (PDE5Is) like sildenafil and tadalafil have garnered extensive prescriptions for the management of male erectile dysfunction. Sildenafil augments the actions of nitricoxide (NO) through the inhibition of phosphodiesterasetype 5 (PDE5), an enzyme responsible for the breakdown of cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP) with in the corpus cavernosum. Nevertheless, it is recognized that vasodilation is not confined solely to the corpuscavernosum (1-3).

Several studies have posited the potential of PDE5Is to precipitate arterial and venous thrombotic or embolic incidents, albeit rare occurrences (4,5). The present investigation documents a case of pulmonary thromboembolism (PTE) in an elderly male patient, aged 81, following the consumption of sildenafil.

# **Case Report**

An 81-year-old male patient who was previously diagnosed with syncope was admitted to our Emergency Department. He reported symptoms of dyspnea and vertigo. Approximately two hours before admission, there was a history of accidentally ingesting a total dose of 100 milligrams of sildenafil. As per his family's account, the patient suffered a sudden loss of consciousness while seated on the couch, followed by a recovery to consciousness within a span of two to three minutes. Initial physiological assessments revealed a blood pressure of 115/75 mmHg, a heart rate of 86 beats per minute, a respiratory rate of 18 breaths per minute, a body temperature of 36.7 °C, an oxygen saturation level of 91%, and a finger stick blood glucose level of 215 mg/dL. The cognitive state was characterized by a heightened level of concentration. The findings of an auscultatory examination indicated the absence of any cardiac murmur and the presence of typical respiratory sounds.

During emergency monitoring, the patient experienced a syncope episode lasting one minute. After a period of bed rest, consciousness was restored. Subsequent blood pressure measurements recorded 90/60 mmHg initially and 120/80 mmHg after two hours of recumbency. The laboratory tests conducted upon admission yielded the following results: white blood cell count of 7.2 x  $10^{3}$ /mm<sup>3</sup>, hemoglobin level of 15.5 g/dL, platelet count of 130,000/uL, urea level of 68 mg/dL, creatinine level of 1.55 mg/dL, and d-Dimer level of 5.9 mg/L (with a normal range of 0-2 mg/L). The findings of the cerebral magnetic resonance imaging and computed tomography imaging (CTI) scans were unremarkable. Echocardiography revealed the presence of right ventricular

Corresponding Author: Fatih Cemal Tekin e-mail: fatihcemaltekin@gmail.com Received: 30.11.2023 • Revision: 22.03.2024 • Accepted: 05.06.2024 DOI: 10.33706/jemcr.1398042 ©Copyright 2020 by Emergency Physicians Association of Turkey - Available online at www.jemcr.com **Cite this article as:** Vișneci EF, Aydın T, Tekin FC, Acar D. A Case of Pulmonary Embolism after Receiving a Dose of Sildenafil. Journal of Emergency Medicine Case Reports. 2024;15(2): 53-55 dilatation and since the d-dimer value is also outside there reference range prompting the performance of chest CTI due to suspected acute PTE. A thrombus was observed within the major pulmonary artery. PTE was diagnosed through CTI evaluation (Figure-1).

An 80 mg dose of enoxaparin was administered via subcutaneous injection in the emergency department. Subsequently, the patient was admitted to the hospital under the care of the chest disorders clinic. Bilateral Doppler ultrasonography of the lower limbs revealed unremarkable findings.

After a 13-day hospitalization period, the patient was discharged with a follow-up care plan in place.

# Discussion

The administration of sildenafil and other PDE5Is is frequently linked with adverse effects, including headache, dyspepsia, lumbago, myalgia, flushing, and rhinorrhea or nasal congestion. There is no established association between the use of PDE5Is and hypercoagulable states. However, some studies have suggested that in rare instances, PDE5I usage may be implicated in arterial and venous thrombotic or embolicevents. A hemodynamic impact of sildenafil has been observed to result in a decrease of approximately 8-10 mm Hg in systolic and diastolic blood pressure, as demonstrated in previous studies (5-7).



Figure 1. CTI Imaging of the Patient

The hypotension observed in this case was likely initially attributed to using sildenafil. Furthermore, the low D-dimer value under scores the importance of meticulous case evaluation and the judicious selection of diagnostic methods to avoid over looking the PTE, which can pose a significant risk to life (8). Rare occurrences of PTE have been documented in correlation with the usage of sildenafil. In a scientific article by Chi Chen, a case of PTE following the administration of tadalafil 20 mg to manage erectile dysfunction in a 56-year-old male devoid of prior coronary artery disease history is reported (9).

The patient presented with symptoms of hemoptysis, dyspnea, and mild left chest discomfort. The patient was transported to the emergency medical facility, where his vital signs, including blood pressure, body temperature, and pulse, were observed to be with in the standard range. However, tachycardia was detected. The electrocardiogram displayed the S1Q3T3 pattern, which was observed unintentionally (10,11).

The lack of similar findings in our case complicates the diagnosis and adds valuable insight to the literature, emphasizing the importance of thorough exclusion of pulmonary thromboembolism (PTE) in cases involving sildenafil usage. Treatment approaches for patients with pulmonary thromboembolism (PTE) differ based on the patient's clinical stability. In cases of stable patients, the primary treatment strategy involves the administration of anticoagulants. For unstable patients, treatment may necessitate thrombolytic therapy for reperfusion or interventions such as surgical thrombectomy and extra corporeal membrane oxygenation. Additionally, preventive measures to avert embolism recurrence and identification of the embolics ource are crucial aspects of management (11,12). In our case, a method by these treatment strategies was followed and investigations were performed to identify the source of the embolism to prevent recurrence.

# Conclusion

In contrast to other cases, the individual under scrutiny was of advanced age and consumed sildenafil inadvertently, rather than intentionally for the treatment of erectile dysfunction. Additionally, unlike other instances, our subject presented with symptoms of syncope and mild chest pain, and their electrocardiogram did not display the S1Q3T3 pattern typically associated with pulmonary embolism.

The occurrence of PTE after sildenafil administration in this case, albeit rare, under scores the significance of meticulous evaluation of medications during patient historytaking. It also highlights that PTE may manifest with nonspecific symptoms and sometimes seemingly benign conditions. This under scores the importance of thorough efforts to rule out the diagnosis of PTE and to address even the slightest suspicion.

The case report has been composed with anonymized characteristics, ensuring that sensitive and detailed patient data have been omitted. However, these data remain accessible to editors and reviewers for evaluation and verification purposes. This practice is supported by the editorial and review process, there by maintaining the confidentiality of the patient while allowing for thorough scrutiny of the report.

There is noc onflict of interest between the authors.

- Smith BP, Babos M. Sildenafil. 2023 Feb 14. In: StatPearls. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2024 Jan–. PMID: 32644404.
- Puşcaşu C, Zanfirescu A, Negreş S, Şeremet OC. ExploringtheMultifacetedPotential of Sildenafil in Medicine. Medicina. 2023; 59(12):2190. doi.org/10.3390/ medicina59122190.
- **3.** Tsertsvadze A, Yazdi F, Fink HA, et al. Oral sildenafilcitrate (viagra) for erectile dysfunction: a systematic review and meta-analysis of harms. Urology 2009; 74:831.
- Feenstra J, van Drie-Pierik RJ, Lacle´ CF, Stricker BH. Acute myocardial infarction associated with sildenafil. Lancet. 1998; 352:957–8.
- Rufa A, Cerase A, Monti L, et al. Recurrent venous thrombosis including cerebral venoussinus thrombosis in a patient taking sildenafil for erectile dysfunction. J Neurol Sci. 2007;260:293–5.
- Schwarz ER, Kapur V, Rastogi S, Rosanio S. Theeffect of chronic phosphodiesterase-5 inhibitoruse on different organ systems. Int J ImpotRes 2007;19:139–48.
- Elsayed YMH. Sildenafil serious emergency presentations; starting with angina, myocardial infarctions, ventricular fibrillation, and ending with death; retrospective observational study (13-report cases). Acci Anesand Crit Care Open A Open J. 2019; I(1): 13-20
- Ekmekyapar M, Şahin L, Gürbüz Ş. Comparison of Auxiliary Diagnostic Methods in Pulmonary Embolism. Med Records. 2021;3(3):204-209.
- Chen HC, Wang CS, Chuang SH, Wang CY. Pulmonary embolism after tadalafil ingestion. Pharm World Sci 2008;30:610-2.
- 10. Tortum F, Gür A. Investigation of the relationship between the PaO2/FiO2 ratio and Wells score in patients diagnosed with acute pulmonary embolism. Ann Med Res. 2023;30(2):226– 230.
- Kaya Z, Tuncez A, Tekinalp M, Karanfil M, Kayrak M, Özdemir K .Comprehensive Echocardiographic Evaluation In Acute Pulmonary Embolism.Selcuk Med J 2013;29(4): 172-176.
- Khandait H, Harkut P, Khandait V, Bang V. Acute pulmonary embolism: Diagnosis and management. Indian Heart J. 2023 Sep-Oct;75(5):335-342. doi: 10.1016/j.ihj.2023.05.007.

# Journal of Emergency Medicine Case Reports

# Neuroleptic Malignant Syndrome in Puerperalwomen – Frozen in Summer

🐌 Sadesvaran Muniandy¹, 📧 Asmalia Khalid¹, 📧 Mohd Lotfi Hamzah¹, 📧 Hafidahwati Hamad @ Ahmad¹ ¹Emergency and Trauma Department, Hospital Sultanah Nur Zahirah, Jalan Sultan Mahmud, 20400 Kuala Terengganu, Terengganu, Malaysia

### Abstract

Neuroleptic malignant syndrome is an rare event, even more so among patient from puerperal period. The incidence risk is of 0.11%. It is often occurs when a patient is prescribed on antipsychotic for long duration of time. We report a case of a female patient, two weeks in post natal period presented with altered behaviour at home. She has prior admission being treated for post partum psychosis with anti psychotic. However antipschotic was withheld as she developed extrapyramidal symptoms while in ward. At home, she developed fever, altered sensorium and fitting-like-episode. On arrival patient was unresponsive and with features of impaired airway patency. She had unstable vital sign with elevated blood pressure, heart rate and temperature. Brain imaging came back normal, excluding brain pathology. She was diagnosed as neuroleptic malignant syndrome as fulfilled features of elevated creatine kinase. She was treated symptomatic by providing first aid to reduce temperature and started on benzodiazepines. She was subsequently admitted to intensive ward and responded well to treatment. Physician must be familiar and have high index of suspicious to identify and treat neuroleptic malignant syndrome. Without prompt treatment, it is highly fatal.

Keywords: Neuroleptic malignant syndrom, puerperal, anti psychotic, withdrawal

# Introduction

"Syndrome malin des neuroleptiques," also known as neuroleptic malignant syndrome (NMS), was first described by Delay in 1960. NMS is an idiosyncratic adverse reaction related to the usage of antipsychotics (1). Antipsychotics have been widely used in recent days to treat psychiatric illness. First-generation antipsychotic (FGA)is well known to cause neuroleptic malignant syndrome (NMS), a rare adverse event. Thus, most psychiatrists opt for secondgeneration antipsychotics (SGA). The prevalence of NMS is extremely low in the general population, with an incidence risk of 0.11% (2). In the post-partum period, female patients have an increased risk of developing NMS (3). We discuss the challenges and limitations in managing a patient within a puerperal period presented with altered mental status.

### Case

A 21-year-old female, para one, 15 days postpartum, with a history of prior admission for puerperal psychosis. On previous admission, she was started on tablet risperidone, to which she developed extrapyramidal symptoms after ten days of medication. Subsequent risperidone was withheld, and she was started on artane. Later, the patient was discharged well against medical advice. Three days later, the patient was brought in by her husband with the complaint of reduced consciousness, fever and stiffing of limb for two days, worsening on the day of presentation.

On arrival, the patient was unresponsive with a blank stare (E4V2M1), the presence of stridor and increased oral secretion but saturating well on high flow mask oxygen. Her heart rate was 180bpm, showing extreme sinus tachycardia with normal blood pressure (121/59mmHg), and her hyperpyrexia with temperature of 42.8 degrees Celsius. Neurological examination reveals areflexia with limb tonic rigidity and non reactive pupil of 6mm bilaterally. She was intubated uneventfully for airway protection and maintenance. Initially, the impression was neuroleptic malignant syndrome, given her history of being started on antipsychotics.

Blood panels were sent, and computed tomography (CT) of the brain was performed to exclude intracranial haemorrhage. Immediate first aid management was performed to decrease the temperature with ice packing and sponging. She was then started on boluses of midazolam and subsequently midazolam infusion with maintenance fluid. Her blood investigation reveals elevated creatinine kinase 4890 U/L and LDH 854 UL. Her other blood parameters and CT brain were normal. She also tested negative for NMDAR encephalitis.

She was admitted to the intensive care unit (ICU). Her condition improved tremendously upon being initiated

Corresponding Author: Sadesvaran Muniandy e-mail: mds1904@yahoo.com Received: 15.01.2024 · Accepted: 05.06.2024 DOI: 10.33706/jemcr.1420313 ©Copyright 2020 by Emergency Physicians Association of Turkey -Available online at www.jemcr.com **Cite this article as:** Muniandy S, Khalid A, Hamzah ML, Hamad @ Ahmad H. Neuroleptic malignant syndrome in puerperalwomen – frozen in summer. Journal of Emergency Medicine Case Reports. 2024;15(2): 56-58 on bromocriptine. She was warded in ICU for six days, subsequently extubated and discharged to general ward. We have obtained consent from the patient to publish the case.

# Discussion

Risperidone has been closely associated with the highest cases of atypical antipsychotic causing NMS (1). Despite risperidone being an atypical antipsychotic, it causes NMS symptoms similar to typical antipsychotics. Previously, it was thought that(SGA)was safe from causing NMS; however, several cases have been reported recently (4). SGA is still strongly associated with causing NMS, with a threefold higher chance of developing (5). Interestingly, NMS caused by SGA lacks the usual cardinal features. This is a belief due to the different pharmacological properties of SGA (4). Risperidone is specifically known to cause marked extrapyramidal syndrome and is followed by NMS (6). This is true in our patients. A shorted duration of antipsychotic was observed among patients taking risperidone who developed NMS. Our patient was prescribed SGA for eight days. At that time, the patient was treated for psychosis. However she was not investigated further for anti-NMDAR encephalitis. An author summarised that anti-NMDAR encephalitis may present with psychiatric symptoms during the early phase (7,8). An author explained that as rare as NMS in pregnancy, it should be considered and investigated in depth among patients diagnosed with postpartum psychosis (9).

Classical features of NMS are muscle rigidity, hyperthermia, involvement of autonomic dysfunction and elevated creatinine kinase (7). The study, noted that hyperpyrexia and autonomic gastrointestinal symptoms such as sialorrhea arethe first symptoms for patients who developed NMS after a few days from initiating antipsychotics (7). Besides, most patients become symptomatic 1-3 days before formal diagnosis (6). Despite that, patients develop symptoms gradually, may become severe, and rapids deteriorate within a few hours (10). In the early stage of NMS, it is difficult to diagnoseas symptoms are often subtle (9).

In rare occurrence, NMS can occur among patients whose neuroleptic has been discontinued. The reported case involved a long-term neuroleptic patient, and NMS is seen as abrupt neuroleptic withdrawal (11). Uniquely, our patient was only on antipsychotics for a brief period. A similar case was described where a puerperal patient developed NMS after ten days on antipsychotic (12).

NMS is managed primarily consist of support therapy which requires temperature control with cooling device, fluids and electrolyte correction. Study also show that treatment with bromocriptine gives rapid recovery (13). After cooling therapy, benzodiazepine is recommended as part of initial therapy. However trial with bromocriptine can be done if patient does not respond well with initial therapy (14). In our patient, even though she responded with benzodiazepine, she was started on bromocriptine to achieve complete recovery.

A close differential diagnosis for NMS is anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis, which will present almost similar to NMS but without elevated CK (7). Any patient diagnosed with NMS should also be investigated for autoimmune encephalitis. There is debate about NMS being a feature of anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis (7).

# Conclusion

Most NMS being life threatening case are diagnosed in inpatient and emergency settings. Thus, we should have a high index of suspicion among patientstaking antipsychotics and developing extrapyramidal syndrome. We highlight that NMS is uncommon, and diagnosis is often missed. This is because the initial presentation is subtle. Clinicians should always consider NMS as adifferential diagnosis in patients who develop altered mental status, hyperpyrexia and rigidity, especially if they are started on dopaminergic antagonists. Efforts should be taken to identify early features among patients coming for follow-up aclinic setting.

- Sarkar S, Gupta N. Drug information update. Atypical antipsychotics and neuroleptic malignant syndrome: Nuances and pragmatics of the association. BJPsych Bull. 2017;41(4):211–6.
- Lao KSJ, Zhao J, Blais JE, Lam L, Wong ICK, Besag FMC, et al. Antipsychotics and Risk of Neuroleptic Malignant Syndrome: A Population-Based Cohort and Case-Crossover Study. CNS Drugs [Internet]. 2020;34(11):1165–75. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s40263-020-00767-9
- **3.** Alexander, Packacheril J; Thomas, Ranji M; Das A. Is Risk of Neuroleptic malignant syndrome increased in the Postpartum period. J Clin Psychiatry. 198AD;52(5):254–5.
- **4.** Trollor JN, Chen X, Sachdev PS. Neuroleptic malignant syndrome associated with atypical antipsychotic drugs. CNS Drugs. 2009;23(6):477–92.
- Su YP, Chang CK, Hayes RD, Harrison S, Lee W, Broadbent M, et al. Retrospective chart review on exposure to psychotropic medications associated with neuroleptic malignant syndrome. Acta Psychiatr Scand. 2014;130(1):52–60.
- Belvederi Murri M, Guaglianone A, Bugliani M, Calcagno P, Respino M, Serafini G, et al. Second-Generation Antipsychotics and Neuroleptic Malignant Syndrome: Systematic Review and Case Report Analysis. Drugs R D. 2015;15(1):45–62.
- 7. Wang HY, Li T, Li XL, Zhang XX, Yan ZR, Xu Y. Anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor encephalitis mimics neuroleptic malignant syndrome: Case report and literature review. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat [Internet]. 2019;15:773–8. Available from: https://doi.org/10.2147/NDT.S195706

- Koksal A, Baybas S, Mutluay B, Altunkaynak Y, Keskek A. A case of NMDAR encephalitis misdiagnosed as postpartum psychosis and neuroleptic malignant syndrome. Neurol Sci. 2015;36(7):1257–8.
- **9.** Price DK, Turnbull GJ, Gregory RP, Stevens DG. Neuroleptic Malignant Syndromein a Case of Post-Partum Psychosis. Br J psychiatry. 1989;(155):849–52.
- Ghafour I, Elyasi F. Metoclopramide-induced neuroleptic malignant syndrome: A review study. Iran J Psychiatry Behav Sci. 2020;14(3).
- **11.** Amore M, Zazzeri N. Neuroleptic malignant syndrome after venlafaxine. Prog Neuro-Psychopharmacol Biol Psychiat. 1995;8(19):1323–34.
- 12. Stefanowski BW, Antosik-Wójcinska AZ, Jeschke J, Dominiak M, Święcicki Ł. Postpartum psychosis case report on effective treatment of electroconvulsive therapy in a patient with a history of neuroleptic malignant syndrome. Pharmacother Psychiatry Neurol. 2019;35(1):75–80.
- 13. KV J, Gudimetla S, Sripada R, Simon A, Raja Y. A review on Neuroleptic Malignant Syndrome and Its Treatment Strategy: For Clinicians. World J Curr Med Pharm Res. 2019;1(1).
- 14. Rogers JP, Oldham MA, Fricchione G, Northoff G, Wilson JE, Mann SC, et al. Evidence-based consensus guidelines for the management of catatonia : Recommendations from the British Association for Psychopharmacology. 2023.

Journal of Emergency Medicine Case Reports

# A Case Report of non Hodgkin Lymphoma Presenting With Upper Gastrointestinal Tract Bleeding

Zekeriya Aksöz<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Hematology, Elazığ Medical Hospital, Elazığ, Türkiye

### Abstract

Possible causes of upper gastrointestinal bleeding include peptic ulcer, esophageal ulcer, variceal bleeding and malignancies. A patient presenting with gastrointestinal bleeding should be evaluated as an emergency and treatment should be started as soon as possible. Hemodynamically stable patients should undergo endoscopy for both diagnostic and therapeutic purposes. In cases where bleeding cannot be stopped by endoscopic methods, invasive vascular methods and surgery may be tried. A 48-year-old male patient presented to the emergency department with complaints of nausea, vomiting in the form of coffee grounds and black stools. Gastrointestinal endoscopy revealed bleeding from a large, fragile mass in the stomach. Our patient was diagnosed as non-hodgkin lymphoma with early biopsy and the bleeding could not be stopped by endoscopic and surgical methods. With the chemotherapy given to our patient, the mass shrunk significantly and bleeding was under control. It should be kept in mind that early biopsy diagnosis and early chemotherapy may be a life-saving option in gastrointestinal bleeding caused by malignancy.

Keywords: Upper gastrointestinal tract bleeding, non hodgkin lymphoma, failure of medical treatment

# Introduction

Initial evaluation of patients with acute gastrointestinal (GI) tract bleeding includes assessment of hemodynamic stability and resuscitation if necessary. Diagnostic studies (usually endoscopy) follow diagnostic goals and, when possible, treatment of the specific disorder(1). Non-Hodgkin's lymphomas (NHL) can have nodal or extranodal onset. NHL is seen in patients of all ages, races and socioeconomic levels(2)T cell progenitors, mature B cells, mature T cells, or (rarely. Patients with lymphoma with gastrointestinal system (GIS) involvement may present with anorexia, early satiety, weight loss, vomiting, ileus, perforation or bleeding. In this case report, we will try to present a case of lymphoma presenting with acute upper gastrointestinal tract bleeding refractory to treatment.

## Case

A 48-year-old male patient was admitted to the emergency department with complaints of dizziness, intense weakness, vomiting in the form of coffee grounds and black diarrhea.

online at www.iemcr.com

On admission to the emergency room, blood pressure arterial: 80/55 mm-Hg, pulse rate: 130/min, temperature: 36.8 C°. Blood tests revealed hemoglobin (hb):8.5 gr/dl, ldh:642 U/L, hemostasis parameters were normal, urea 80 mg/dL, creatinine 1.3 mg/dl. The patient's rectal palpation was melena smear. An intravenous line was opened rapidly and saline (SF) infusion was started at 200 cc/h. 80 mg pantoprazole intravenous (IV) puff followed by infusion at 8 mg/h was started. The patient was ordered 3 units of erythrocyte suspension and hospitalized in the intensive care unit. The patient was admitted to the internal medicine outpatient clinic about 2 weeks ago with complaints of nausea, vomiting and abdominal pain. Blood tests performed at the outpatient clinic revealed hb:13.2 gr/dl and no pathologic values in biochemistry parameters. The patient had no special history. There was no history of regular medication and gastrointestinal surgery. Abdominal tomography (CT) was ordered. In the abdominal CT scan, it was reported as; "a lobulated contoured space-occupying solid mass lesion starting from the fundus level of the stomach and extending to the antrum, filling the lumen of the stomach almost completely at these levels and exceeding the stomach wall at the level of the great curvature, showing

Corresponding Author: Zekeriya Aksöz e-mail: zaksoz@yahoo.com Received: 28.05.2024 • Revision: 04.06.2024 • Accepted: 05.06.2024 DOI: 10.33706/jemcr.1491478 ©Copyright 2020 by Emergency Physicians Association of Turkey - Available **Cite this article as:** Aksöz Z. A Case of Sigmoid A case report of non hodgkin lymphoma presenting with upper gastrointestinal tract bleeding. 2024;15(2): 59-62

heterogeneous contrast uptake, measuring approximately 125x91 mm in the coronal plane at its widest point". During upper GI endoscopy, multiple biopsies were taken from the mass at the level of the great curvature. Although the patient was advised to continue hospitalization for the mass that allowed partial passage of the expected pathology result, the patient was discharged voluntarily. After admission to the emergency department, the patient was hospitalized in the intensive care unit, a central venous catheter was inserted and 1 unit of erythrocyte suspension was given without complications. During this period, the patient's arterial blood pressure and tachycardia improved slightly and urgent upper GI endoscopy was performed. It was observed that the patient had diffuse bleeding from the mass starting from the fundus and extending to the antrum. Endoscopic intervention (such as sclerotherapy, band ligation) could not be performed. The patient was then referred to oncologic surgery. The patient was taken to emergency surgery and was told that no surgical procedure could be performed for the mass that disrupted hemodynamics. The previous biopsy result of the patient was plasmablastic lymphoma and the Hb value was 7.7 g/dl in the control examinations. The remaining 2 units of erythrocyte suspension were also administered. Tranexamic acid was started 3x250 milligram IV. Since the hemostasis panel was normal, TDP (fresh frozen plasma) or cryoprecipitate was not given. The patient's relatives were interviewed. All possible risks including gastric perforation were explained. Consent for chemotherapy was obtained. DA-EPOCH chemotherapy protocol was started. With the treatment, the patient's GI bleeding stopped, her melena decreased, her vital signs improved and the need for erythrocyte suspension replacement disappeared. The patient, whose general condition improved, was transferred to the hematology service approximately 2 weeks later.

# Discussion

Gastrointestinal bleeding originating proximal to the ligament of Treitz is called upper gastrointestinal bleeding and bleeding originating distal to the ligament of Treitz is called lower gastrointestinal bleeding. The initial evaluation of a patient with suspected clinically significant acute upper gastrointestinal bleeding includes history, physical examination and laboratory tests. The goal of the assessment is to determine the severity of the bleeding, its potential sources, and the presence of conditions that may affect subsequent management. The information collected as part of the initial assessment is used to guide decisions regarding triage, resuscitation, empirical medical treatment and diagnostic testing(1). Hematemesis is suggestive of upper GI bleeding. The majority of melena is also caused by upper GI bleeding (90%) but can also be caused by bleeding from the oropharynx or nasopharynx, small bowel or colon(3). Possible causes of upper gastrointestinal bleeding include peptic ulcer, esophageal ulcer, Mallory-Weiss tear, variceal bleeding, portal hypertensive gastropathy and malignancy. Physical examination is an important component in the assessment of hemodynamic stability. Tachycardia, orthostatic hypotension, and hypotension in the supine position are among the signs of hypovolemia(1). Our patient presented to the emergency department with hematemesis and melena. These findings suggested that the bleeding probably originated from the upper gastrointestinal tract. Hypotension, tachycardia and dizziness were findings suggesting the severity of bleeding. Laboratory tests that should be obtained in patients with acute upper gastrointestinal bleeding include complete blood count, serum chemistry, liver tests and coagulation studies(1). The initial hemoglobin level in patients with acute upper GI bleeding may be at baseline because the patient has lost whole blood. Over time, the hemoglobin level will decrease due to the entry of extravascular fluid into the vascular cavity and dilution of the blood due to the fluid administered during resuscitation. The hemoglobin level should initially be monitored every two to eight hours depending on the severity of bleeding(1). Because blood is absorbed as it passes through the small intestine and patients may have reduced renal perfusion, patients with acute upper GI bleeding typically have a high blood urea nitrogen (BUN)-creatinine or urea-creatinine ratio (values >30:1 or >100:1, respectively) (4). The higher the ratio, the more likely the bleeding is from an upper GI source (5). At the time of diagnosis, hb was 8.5 g/dl, urea was 80 mg/dL, creatinine was 1.3 mg/dl and hemostasis panel was normal. The urea/creatinine ratio was also high. Although the principles are similar in the treatment of all patients with upper GI bleeding, there are some special considerations when it comes to patients presenting with hemodynamic instability (shock, orthostatic hypotension) (1). Adequate peripheral access should be provided with two 18-gauge or larger intravenous catheters and/or a large-diameter, singlelumen central cordis.

For patients with active/live bleeding and hypovolemia, transfusion should be guided by hemodynamic parameters (e.g. pulse and blood pressure) rather than serial parameters, the rate of bleeding, estimated blood loss and ability to stop bleeding. If the initial hemoglobin level is low (<7 g/dL), transfusions should be initiated (6). However, transfusion support should not be delayed while waiting for laboratory test results in a patient with acute bleeding. Patients admitted to the hospital with acute upper GI bleeding are typically treated with a proton pump inhibitor (PPI)(1). After 80 milligrams of PPI, pantoprazole infusion was started at 8 mg/h. A wide vascular access was opened and iv SF infusion was started. Since the patient had active bleeding and hemodynamic instability, erythrocyte suspension replacement was performed even though the patient's hospitalization Hb value was <7 g/dl. Since the

hemostasis panel was normal, no blood or blood products were given for the hemostasis system. Upper endoscopy is the preferred diagnostic method for acute upper GI bleeding (7). Endoscopy has high sensitivity and specificity for detecting and identifying bleeding lesions in the upper gastrointestinal tract. In addition, once a bleeding lesion is identified, therapeutic endoscopy can provide acute hemostasis and prevent recurrent bleeding in most patients. Early endoscopy (within 24 hours) is recommended for most patients with acute upper GI bleeding. Endoscopy is recommended within 12 hours of presentation for patients with suspected variceal bleeding (1). Endoscopic therapy is indicated for the treatment of most ulcers with signs of new bleeding that increase the risk of recurrent bleeding. With appropriate treatment, high-risk lesions have recurrent bleeding rates of 5 to 20%, depending on the endoscopic appearance of the ulcer. On the other hand, ulcers with a clear base or flat pigmented spot have a low risk of recurrent bleeding (1). Surgery in peptic ulcer disease is the basis for emergency treatment of life-threatening complications such as bleeding, perforation, obstruction, and suspected malignancy, as well as disease refractory to medical therapy. Surgical options for peptic ulcer disease range from local therapies that only manage ulcer-related complications (ie, bleeding, perforation, or obstruction) to definitive ulcer operations. Generally, the least morbid procedure that will adequately manage the patient's problem should be used in each instance. Definitive ulcer operations may be directed largely or solely at reducing acid secretion (which impairs mechanisms of healing), or they may include strategies for managing the susceptibility of the ulcer bed to recurrent injury. Reconstruction is necessary following partial gastrectomy to reestablish gastrointestinal continuity. The Billroth I, Billroth II, and Roux-en-Y reconstruction techniques are the most common (8). After our case was partially stabilized, endoscopy of the upper gastrointestinal tract was performed. Although local methods (sclerotherapy) were tried because the mass was very large and fragile, they were not effective. The patient was then taken to emergency surgery and the gastrointestinal system surgeon reported that a palliative therapeutic procedure could not be performed because the mass was too large and invaded many vascular neural structures. The clinical presentation of NHL varies according to histologic subtype and sites of involvement. While some subtypes of NHL show variable lymphadenopathy for years (indolent), others are highly aggressive and can lead to death within weeks or even days if left untreated. Even within a specific NHL subtype, the clinical picture can vary greatly between individual patients (2). Aggressive lymphomas often present subacutely or acutely with a rapidly growing mass; they may present with structural symptoms such as fever, night sweats or weight loss; tumor lysis syndrome, ileus or bleeding. Examples of aggressive NHL include diffuse large B-cell lymphoma,

Burkitt lymphoma, precursor B and T lymphoblastic leukemia/lymphoma, adult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma and plasmablastic lymphoma. Indolent lymphomas are usually insidious, presenting with lymphadenopathy, hepatomegaly, splenomegaly and/or cytopenias that grow slowly or increase and decrease over months or years. Examples of slow NHL include follicular lymphoma, chronic lymphocytic leukemia/small lymphocytic lymphoma and splenic marginal zone lymphoma (2). A minority of patients initially present with extranodal lymphoma (primary extranodal NHL), but many more patients develop extranodal disease (secondary extranodal NHL) during the course of their disease. Examples of extranodal manifestations of NHL include Patients with primary gastrointestinal tract lymphoma may present with anorexia, early satiety, weight loss, vomiting, ileus, perforation or bleeding (2). The most common site of primary extranodal disease is the gastrointestinal tract. Plasmablastic lymphoma (PBL) is a rare but highly aggressive lymphoma usually observed in the setting of HIV disease (9). Due to the rarity of this disease, there is no accepted evidence-based systemic treatment for PBL. CHOP remains a widely used treatment regimen, especially in resource-limited settings. However, more intensive regimens are recommended in PBL. The preferred chemotherapy regimen is the dose-adjusted (DA)-EPOCH protocol (cyclophosphamide and prednisone doses plus etoposide, vincristine and doxorubicin) (10). The HIV serology of our case was negative. All possible complications associated with chemotherapy were explained to our patient, including gastric perforation and vascular rupture. Accepting the possible risks, the patient was started on the da-epoch kt protocol. The treatment resulted in clinical improvement, hemodynamic stability, reduction and disappearance of the need for erythroid trasnfusion and improvement in laboratory values. The patient, whose general condition also improved and no longer needed intensive care, was transferred to the hematology service.

# Conclusion

Aggressive non-hodgkin lymphoma may be among the etiologies of upper gastrointestinal bleeding. In cases where endoscopic and surgical methods are inadequate, chemotherapy may be a life-saving option considering the possible risks.

# References

 John R Saltzman, Loren Laine, Anne C Travis. Approach to acute upper gastrointestinal bleeding in adults. https:// www.uptodate.com/ [Internet]. April 2024; Access address: https://www.uptodate.com/contents/approach-to-acuteupper-gastrointestinal-bleeding-in-adults?search = acuteupper-gastrointestinal-bleeding-in-adults&source = search\_ result & selected Title = 1%7E150 & usage\_type = default & display\_rank = 1

- 2. Arnold S Freedman, Jonathan W Friedberg, Jon C Aster, Andrew Lister, Alan G Rosmarin. Clinical presentation and initial evaluation of non-Hodgkin lymphoma. https://www.uptodate.com/ [Internet]. April 2024; Access address: https://www.uptodate.com/contents/ clinical-presentation-and-initial-evaluation-of-nonhodgkin-lymphoma?search=clinical-presentationand-initial-evaluation-of-non-hodgkin-lymphoma&source=search\_result&selectedTitle=1%7E150&usage\_ type=default&display\_rank=1
- Mitchell S Cappell, David Friedel. Initial management of acute upper gastrointestinal bleeding: from initial evaluation up to gastrointestinal endoscopy. Med Clin North Am . May 2008;92(3):491-509.
- **4.** Jeffrey L Carson, Gordon Guyatt, Nancy M Heddle, Brenda J Grossman, Claudia S Cohn, Mark K Fung. Clinical Practice Guidelines From the AABB: Red Blood Cell Transfusion Thresholds and Storage. JAMA. 15 November 2016;316(19):2025-35.
- **5.** Salvador Machlab, Pilar García-Iglesias, Eva Martínez-Bauer, Rafael Campo. Diagnostic utility of nasogastric tube aspiration and the ratio of blood urea nitrogen to creatinine for distinguishing upper and lower gastrointestinal tract

bleeding.Emergencias. 2018;30(6):419-23.

- Ayodele Odutayo, Michael J R Desborough, Marialena Trivella, Adrian J Stanley, Carolyn Dorée. Restrictive versus liberal blood transfusion for gastrointestinal bleeding: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol. Mayıs 2017;2(5):354-60.
- David W Nelms, Carlos A Pelaez.The Acute Upper Gastrointestinal Bleed.Surgical Clinics of North America.2018 Oct;98(5):1047-1057
- 8. Stephen J Ferzoco, David I Soybel, Wenliang Chen. Surgical management of peptic ulcer disease. https://www.uptodate.com/ [Internet].May 28, 2024. Access address: https://www.uptodate.com/contents/surgical-management-of-peptic-ulcer-disease?section Name = Bleeding %20 duodenal %20 ulcer & search = Surgery %20 for %20 upper %20 gastrointestinal %20 bleeding %20 unresponsive %20 to %20 medical %20 treatment & topic Ref = 2573 & anchor = H360425204 & source = see\_link#H360425204
- Jorge J Castillo, Michele Bibas, Roberto N Miranda 3. The biology and treatment of plasmablastic lymphoma. Blood. 09 April 2015;125(15):2323-30.
- 10. Jenique Bailly, Nicholas Jenkins, Dharshnee Chetty, Zainab Mohamed et al.Plasmablastic lymphoma: An update.Int J Lab Hematol. 2022 Sep; 44(Suppl 1): 54–63.